
Memo 
To: City Commission 

From: Toby Dougherty, City Manager  

Date: 12-8-16 

Re: December 15, 2016 Work Session 

Please find the attached agenda and supporting documentation for the December 15, 2016 Work 
Session.  

Item 2 – Joint Meeting – City of Hays/Hays Recreation Commission 

Please refer to the attached memorandum from Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks, regarding the joint 
meeting with the Hays Recreation Commission. This is a meeting the City Commission has each 
year to review the performance of the Hays pool system and the Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex. 
As you will see in the memo, the Hays pools lost money, which is typical. For the second year in a 
row, the Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex did make a profit. The contract with the Hays Recreation 
Commission for operations at the sports complex is up for renewal in 2018. We are getting a 
better handle on the revenue potential at the complex and will be prepared to renegotiate the 
contract in 2018.  

Item 3 – Wastewater and Parks Fiber Network Connections 

Please refer to the attached memorandum from Chad Ruder, Director of Information Technology, 
regarding connectivity for the Wastewater and Parks facilities. For several years, we have wanted 
to connect the Parks Department, Wastewater Treatment Plant, and Hays Regional Airport to the 
City’s network of fiber. We have been reluctant to do so, however, due to the high cost of fiber. 
With the wastewater facility rebuild that is currently in the planning stage, it will be necessary for 
us to run fiber to the wastewater facility to fully handle the data provided by the new SCADA 
system. IT solicited proposals and received a tremendously economical bid from Nex-Tech to 
provide fiber connectivity at a price that was previously thought unattainable. City staff is very 
happy with this proposal and suggests moving forward.  

Item 4 – 2017 Street Maintenance Program  

Please refer to the attached memorandum from John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works, 
regarding the 2017 Street Maintenance Program. Earlier this year, the City contracted for a 
Pavement Condition Assessment. That data has been provided and used to develop the 2017 
Street Maintenance Program that is being presented.  

City of Hays 
Office of the City Manager 



On a completely unrelated project, City staff is still working on the design phase for the 
reconstruction of 8th Street from Milner to Vine.  
 
More information on the Street Maintenance Program, as well as the Pavement Condition 
Assessment findings, will be presented at the work session.  
 
Item 5 – Airport Capital Improvement Program Update 
 
Please refer to the attached memorandum from John Braun regarding the Airport Capital 
Improvement Program.  
 
Item 6  – 2016 Boundary Resolution  
 
This item is self-explanatory.  
 
aw 



CITY OF HAYS 
CITY COMMISSION WORK SESSION 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 15, 2016 – 6:30 P.M.  
AGENDA 

1. ITEM FOR REVIEW: December 1, 2016 Work Session Notes (PAGE 1)
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Kim Rupp, Director of Finance

2. ITEM FOR REVIEW: Joint Meeting – City of Hays/Hays Recreation Commission (PAGE 3)
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE: Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks

Roger Bixenman, HRC Superintendent 

3. ITEM FOR REVIEW: Wastewater and Parks Fiber Network Connections (PAGE 21)
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Chad Ruder, IT Director

4. ITEM FOR REVIEW: 2017 Street Maintenance Program (PAGE 65)
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Greg Sund, Director of Public Works

5. ITEM FOR REVIEW: Airport Capital Improvement Program Update (PAGE 85)
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Greg Sund, Director of Public Works

6. ITEM FOR REVIEW: 2016 Boundary Resolution (PAGE 101)
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Kim Rupp, Director of Finance

7. OTHER ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION

8. EXECUTIVE SESSION (IF REQUIRED)

9. ADJOURNMENT

ANY PERSON WITH A DISABILITY NEEDING SPECIAL ACCOMMODATIONS TO ATTEND THIS MEETING 
SHOULD CONTACT THE CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING 
TIME.  EVERY ATTEMPT WILL BE MADE TO ACCOMMODATE ANY REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE. 





City of Hays 

City Commission 

Work Session Notes 

Thursday, December 1, 2016 – 6:30 p.m. 

Present: Shaun Musil, James Meier, Henry Schwaller IV, Lance Jones, Eber 

Phelps, John Bird, Toby Dougherty, and Kim Rupp 

November 17, 2016 Work Session Notes 

There were no corrections or additions to the minutes of the work session 

held on November 17, 2016; the minutes stand approved as presented. 

Vehicle Abatement – 414 East 7th Street 
The abandoned vehicles located at 414 East 7th Street have been 

removed so no action was needed.  

Emergency Snow Routes Amendment 
Greg Sund, Director of Public Works, stated Section 62-151 of the 

Municipal Code establishes certain streets as emergency snow routes within the 

City of Hays.  During a Winter Storm Traffic Emergency as declared by the City 

Manager, it is unlawful to park a vehicle on any street designated as an 

emergency snow route. 

When Ellis County Emergency Medical Services (EMS) was located at the 

1009 Cody, the streets surrounding EMS were designated emergency snow 

routes.  Now that EMS has moved into the new Ellis County Rural Fire/EMS 

Building at 1105 East 22nd Street, it is advisable to amend the emergency snow 

routes to reflect the change. 

The City Attorney has prepared an ordinance amending Section 62-151 of 

the Municipal Code to include the addition of General Hays Road, from Cody 

Avenue to 22nd Street, and to remove two street segments; General Hays Road, 

1



from Cody Avenue to Downing Avenue; and Downing Avenue, from General 

Hays Road to Vine Street. 

Commissioners will be asked to adopt an ordinance amending Section 62-

151 of the Municipal Code at the December 8, 2016 Commission meeting. 

 
Other Items for Discussion 
 There were no other items for discussion. 

 

The work session was adjourned at 6:33 p.m. 

 

Submitted by: ______________________________________________ 

Brenda Kitchen – City Clerk 

2



Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

From: Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks 

Work Session: December 15, 2016 

Subject: City of Hays/Hays Recreation Commission Joint Meeting 

Person(s) Responsible:  Roger Bixenman, HRC Superintendent 
Jeff Boyle, Director of Parks 

Summary
A joint meeting between the City of Hays and the Hays Recreation Commission (HRC) is 
scheduled for December 15, 2016.  Items for discussion include:  

1) Review the 2016 Pool Season Financial Report from the Hays Recreation
Commission. City Staff recommends proceeding with the pool reimbursement
request for an amount of $13,582.90 with funding from the Contractual
Services line item of the 2016 General Fund Pool Budget.

2) Review the 2016 Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Financial report from the
Hays Recreation Commission. The current contract states that “The Hays
Recreation Commission and the Hays City Commission agree to conduct a
joint meeting to discuss the financial profit/loss of the facility for the year
including disbursement of funds as needed or as agreed upon by both parties”.
For 2016, the HRC realized a profit of $32,391.88.

Background 
The City of Hays contracts with the Hays Recreation Commission (HRC) to manage area 
pools and for all scheduling needs of the various recreational areas in Hays such as ball 
fields, soccer fields and the new Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex. Each year the HRC 
and the City of Hays conduct a joint meeting to discuss general operations, financial 
reports and/or any other facility needs or expectations that may need to be addressed. 

Discussion 
There are two items for discussion for the December 15, 2016, HRC/City of Hays joint 
meeting.  

1) Review the 2016 Pool Season Financial Report from the Hays Recreation
Commission. The current contract states that “After financial reports are
compiled as described in the agreement, any operating loss or surplus incurred
by the contractor will be shared on a 50% City-50% Contractor basis as long
as the Contractors portion of the loss does not exceed $26,000”.  The Hays
Recreation Commission is requesting of $13,582.90 which is one-half of the

3



total loss for pool operations ($27,165.80) for the 2016 season. The attendance 
at the Hays Aquatic Park increased in 2016 with 53,504 patrons visiting the 
pool when compared to 51,241 in 2015. Likewise, the attendance at Wilson 
Pool increased to 3,923 patrons in 2016 when compared to 3,637 in 2015.  

    
2) Review the 2016 Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Financial Report. The 

Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex report from the HRC shows a total profit of 
$32,391.88. The current contract states that “The Hays Recreation 
Commission and the Hays City Commission agree to conduct a joint meeting 
to discuss the financial profit/loss of the facility for the year including 
disbursement of funds as needed or as agreed upon by both parties”. 

 
Legal Consideration 

There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
Pool Financial Consideration:  
The HRC is requesting a 50% reimbursement, as outlined in the Pool Services 
Agreement, for the HRC operational losses at Wilson Pool and the Hays Aquatic Park 
($27,165.80). The total reimbursement request from the Hays Recreation Commission is 
one-half or 50% of this amount or $13,582.90. The year-to-date (December 1, 2016) 
expenses to the city budgets for pool operations is $94,560.35.  The total YTD expenses 
with the $13,582.90 will be $108,143.25. As a reminder, the HRC operates and reports on 
the daily operations of the pools and provides an annual statement of 
revenue/expenditures for related activities. The City of Hays has separate general fund 
budget(s) that provides funding for all other things necessary to maintain the pools in 
good operating condition. Examples of city budget expenditures would include 
chemicals, structural repairs, contractual services, paint, electrical/gas and mechanical 
pumping systems.  
 
Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Financial Consideration: 
The current contract, which expires in 2018, states that “The Hays Recreation 
Commission and the Hays City Commission agree to conduct a joint meeting to discuss 
the financial profit/loss of the facility for the year including disbursement of funds as 
needed or as agreed upon by both parties”. In 2016, the Hays Recreation Commission 
realized a profit of $32,391.88. The City’s YTD expenditures (December 1, 2016) for the 
city’s portion of the 2016 routine maintenance from the Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex 
totals $127,442.25. As a reminder, the HRC completes field striping and grooming, 
operates concessions and schedules/collects fees for all activities at the Bickle-Schmidt 
Sports Complex and provides a revenue/expenditure report at the end of the year for 
those activities. The city has a separate budget for all other routine maintenance of the 
facility that utilizes funding from the original sales tax initiative. Examples of city budget 
expenditures would include mowing, chemicals/fertilizers, cleaning, structural repairs, 
irrigation repairs, equipment fuel/repairs and electrical/gas needs. 
 

Action Requested 
There is no formal action required of the City Commission regarding this item since the 
amount is within the City Managers spending authority.  
 

4



Supporting Documentation 
Joint Meeting memorandum from the Director of Parks 1.1 
Copy of the November 23, 2016 letter to Toby Dougherty, City Manager, from Roger 
Bixenman, HRC Superintendent discussing the 2016 Pool Season. 1.2  
Summary of Pool Operations for the 2016 Pool Season 1.3 
Summary of Hays Aquatic Park Attendance 1.4 
Summary of Wilson Attendance 1.5 
Summary of Pool Subsidy (2000-2016) 1.6 
Copy of the Pool Services Agreement. 1.7 
Copy of a the November 23, 2016 letter to Toby Dougherty, City Manager, from Roger 
Bixenman, HRC Superintendent discussing the 2016 Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex 
season. 1.8 
Financial Summary of Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex 2013-2016 1.9 
Summary of Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex participation 2.0 
Copy of the Bickle-Schmidt Sports Complex Facilities Agreement 2.1 

5



6



7



8



9



Hays Aquatic Park Wilson Pool City of Hays Total

Year Attendance Attendance Pool Subsidization

2000 83,162 n/a $31,290.92

2001 84,767 n/a $71,475.16

2002 76,294 n/a $32,533.82

2003 62,622 2,951 $20,274.20

2004 50,377 n/a $15,701.97

2005 56,090 closed $4,306.44

2006 56,857 n/a $3,108.37

2007 54,088 1,518 $15,661.16

2008 56,116 2,332 $5,820.13

2009 54,513 2,018 $14,424.36

2010 62,290 3,441 $5,380.89

2011 60,971 3,588 $3,261.85

2012 58,999 5,085 $6,344.95

2013 46,270 3,740 $20,451.72

2014 48,528 3,836 $7,960.14

2015 46,473 3,637 $15,701.06

2016 51,756 3,923 $13,582.90

POOL SUMMARY

10



POOL SERVICES AGREEMENT THIS AGREEMENT ismade and entered into this 14th day of September 2006 byand between the City of Hays amunicipal corporation hereinafter referred toasthe City and the Hays Recreation Commission hereinafter referred toasthe Contractor WHEREAS the City owns and maintains Wilson Pool and the Hays Aquatic Park for the benefit of itscitizens and WHEREAS the City desires toengage the Contractor tomaintain said swimming pools and perform other service asmore fully set out within this document NOW THEREFORE itisagreed byand between the City and the Contractor asfollows IContractor aqrees toaKeep and maintain all equipment owned bythe City ingood working condition and perform all such repairs that may properly beaccomplished onthe premises with Contractor spersonnel using City equipment ifneeded provided all repairs or maintenance beyond the Contractor sexpertise should beperformed under the Contractor ssupervision at the City sexpense only after receiving approval from the City Parks Director bHave the sole responsibility of hiring training and supervising all personnel needed toprovide the services herein described The Contractor shall beresponsible for all employee benefits including Workman sCompensation Social Security withholding unemployment compensation or any other payroll requirements asset forth bythe United States or Kansas Statutes Acertificate of Workman sCompensation Insurance which shows the Contractor has valid and adequate coverage must befiled with the City annually cFurnish all labor and work necessary tomaintain Wilson Pool and the Hays Aquatic Park and related grounds inaworkmanlike manner consistent with generally accepted operation standards Red Cross Ellis and Associates or other nationally recognized programs dOperate said pools for anadmission bythe general public during the swimming season Swimming season isgenerally defined asthe time between Memorial Day through Labor Day General use bythe public of these facilities may besuspended for weather related incidents including lightning thunderstorms or excessive wind or labor shortages Priority for pool operations during labor shortages shall be1Hays Aquatic Park and 2Wilson Pool Adecision toclose any of the above mentioned pools will beat the discretion of the Aquatic Director according tothe policies established within this Agreement The Contractor shall notify the City of any closures assoon aspossible eCoordinate acomprehensive aquatics program outside of the general public swim times including but not limited toswim lessons aquasize sessions swim meets swim team practices special events and facility rentals

11



Pool Services Agreement Page 2DMaintain the grounds immediately surrounding all swimming pools including but not limited tolitter pick upFor Hays Aquatic Park grounds maintenance shall also include turf maintenance gMaintain the swimming pool water inasafe and sanitary condition and prepare the pools for operation prior tothe pool season and secure the pools after the end of the season hKeep inaclean and sanitary condition the pool premises toinclude but not limited tothe pool deck shower rooms locker facilities parking lot area tube storage area sundeck loose equipment deck chairs inner tubes roping etc and other related items iEstablish collect and account for admission charges bypools for all pools provided that any admission charges tosaid pools shall beapproved bythe City Commission of the City of Hays Other Fees The Contractor has the right tocharge fees for other activities not listed All revenues received from any such charges will beadded tothe total revenue received bythe Contractor asrequired inSection Vof this agreement jKeep records of all receipts from admissions rentals and concessions along with all expenses for pool operation both direct and indirect and provide the City adequate full complete and itemized accounting of said receipts and expenses bypool byNovember 1st of each year Indirect expenses include 10of the HRC Office Manager sannual salary 5of the HRC Superintendent sannual salary 66of the HRC Aquatic Director sannual salary and benefits kMaintain anadmission policy which does not discriminate against any person because of race national origin age sex or physical handicap IAssist the City indeveloping anannual budget inaccordance with the City sbudget schedule for approval bythe City Commission Make requests and estimates for materials and repairs toall pool facilities tothe Park Director prior toApril 1of each year for possible inclusion inthe next year sCity budget mProvide for the purchase of all other materials not specifically mentioned inthis agreement and provide for the necessary manpower for minor structural building and pool repairs Minor structural building and pool repairs shall mean any repair less than 500 00nProvide and pay for any telephone service for all public swimming pools 0Provide concessions at all pools toalevel deemed appropriate bythe Superintendent of the Hays Recreation pCreate and maintain management practices that create afriendly and cordial atmosphere for the mutual enjoyment of all citizens

12



Pool Services Agreement Page 3IICity aqrees toaFurnish such equipment itdeems necessary for use bythe Contractor inproviding the services herein described bProvide and pay for major structural repairs toall pools dealing with plumbing filtering electrical or mechanical equipment Major structural repairs shall include any repair inexcess of 500 00Such Major repairs must beauthorized bythe Park Director of the City and follow City Purchasing Policy cProvide and pay for needed materials and equipment such asswimming pool ladders paint paint supplies guard stands diving boards etc dPay all electric and gas utility costs for all pools eProvide for water and sewage services at all pools aswell asall water sanitation chemicals for all pools fProvide sanitation during the off season months gProvide that all pools are ingood sound mechanical condition and are incompliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act ADA prior tothe opening of each pool season III Both Darties aqree aThe City shall have at all times control of all pool premises and access tothe same bThe City Park Director and the City Manager or designee shall bethe principal contacts for overseeing this agreement The Superintendent of the Hays Recreation Commission shall bethe principal contact for the Contractor inadministrating this agreement IVContract term aThis agreement shall beinforce for afive 5year period beginning January 12007 through December 312011 unless terminated byeither party bygiving notice tothe other at least 60days prior toFebruary 1for the ensuing summer season Itisunderstood that anevaluation of the previous year sservices shall beconducted byboth parties This evaluation shall bereviewed byboth parties and may beused asabasis for modification of the following year All modifications of this agreement must bedone bymutual consent Unless otherwise stipulated inother sections this agreement shall beautomatically renewed for five 5years unless either party notifies the other of itsintention torenegotiate the lease at least one hundred twenty 120 days prior tothe termination of the primary term of this lease or any extension thereof VCompensation Inconsideration for operating and maintaining pools inthe manner described inthis agreement the City and Contractor agree tothe following financial terms

13



Pool Services Agreement Page 4After financial reports are compiled asdescribed inthe agreement any operating loss or surplus incurred bythe Contractor will beshared ona50City 50Contractor basis aslong asthe Contractor sportion of the loss does not exceed 26000 Contractor shall have the option torequest early partial payment ifexpenses over revenue for the pools cause acash flow shortage VI Annual Appropriation aThis agreement issubject toannual appropriations of the City and or Contractor INWITNESS WHEREOF both parties have executed this contract this 14th day of September 2006 CITY OF HAYS CONTRACTOR HAYS RECREATION COMMISSION Mark Junk Cn

14



15



16



17



HRCCITY OF HAYS BICKLE SCHMIDT SPORTS COMPLEX

FACILITIES AGREEMENT

This Agreement made and entered into on this 9 day of November 2010 by and

between the City of Hays Kansas a municipal corporation hereinafter referred to as

City and the Hays Recreation Commission a public agency hereinafter referred to as

HRC

WHEREAS the City of Hays Parks Department is solely responsible for maintaining the

Bickle Schmidt Sports Complex and

WHEREAS the City does not have all the resources necessary to groom and maintain

infields at the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex adequately to accommodate the needs of

the HRC and

WHEREAS the HRC in exchange for scheduling privileges and other considerations
desires to provide additional services to make the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex more

usable on a routine basis

NOW WITNESS THE FOLLOWING

I SCHEDULING AND USE OF THE BICKLE SCHMIDT SPORTS COMPLEX

The HRC shall have exclusive rights to schedule and use the BickleSchmidt

Sports Complex for soccer baseball softball football etc Such scheduling shall

include all practices and games for HRCNonHRC activities

The City further agrees to

1 Provide and pay for all routine facility repairs excluding repairs caused by
negligence ofby Hays Recreation Commission staff or their contractors

2 Provide and pay for all utilities for the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex
including but not limited to sewer water electricitynatural gas and phone
services for the maintenance building only

3 Provide daily trash pickup of all facilities excluding weekends and holidays

4 Provide for all maintenance activities at the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex
excluding routine dragging striping and base setting on the infields

5 Consider other capital improvements as part of the regular City budget

18



The Recreation Commission agrees to

1 Keep all areas used by the Recreation Commission free from trash and debris

during weekends and city holiday events Such areas shall include but not

be limited to the following bleachers restrooms dugouts infields outfields

and soccer fields

2 Provide for dragging and packing of infield areas and maintenance and

replacement of base pads

3 Line stripe and otherwise mark all fields as needed for play

4 Schedule all recreational activities at the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex as

requestednecessary for HRC programs or by individuals and organizations

5 Provide and pay for telephone services at necessary locations excluding the

maintenance building

5 Operate concession stands at the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex The HRC

shall have the authority to negotiate a lease agreement with any organization
to operate the concession stands All such agreements shall be in

compliance with City of Hays and HRC ethics codes

6 HRC shall have the authority to negotiate advertising with businesses for the

facility as long as the advertising is not that of a direct competitor of the

businesses that have paid for the naming rights within the named areas

7 Submit in writing a list of all capital improvements including description and

costs for consideration in the regular City budget by April 1 of each year

8 Provide the City adequate records of all receipts from admissions rentals
and concessions along with all expenses for baseball softball soccer and

football programs both direct and indirect and provide the City a full

complete and itemized accounting of said receipts and expenses by
December 1 of each year

II IMPROVEMENTS AND ADDITIONS TO THE BICKLE SCHMIDT SPORTS

COMPLEX

All desired improvementsadditions to the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex
must be approved by City staff and may require City Commission approval

2

19



III EQUIPMENT

Maintenance building at the BickleSchmidt Sports Complex shall be available

for joint use by both parties Use of equipment shall be available with prior

approval of party to which the equipment belongs

IV COMPENSATION

The Hays Recreation Commission and the Hays City Commission agree to

conduct a joint meeting to discuss the financial profitloss of the facility for the year

including the disbursement of funds as needed or as agreed upon by both parties

V CONTRACT TERMS

This agreement will remain in effect for a three 3 year period beginning
January 1 2011 through December 31 2013 unless either party gives 60 days
written notice to the other party of the intention to terminate or renegotiate the

agreement All terms of this agreement are subject to annual appropriation of

funds by the Hays City Commission and the Hays Recreation Commission Unless

otherwise stipulated in other sections this agreement shall be automatically
renewed for five 5 years unless either party notifies the other of its intention to

renegotiate the lease at least one hundred twenty 120 days prior to the

termination of the primary term of this lease or any extension thereof

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused this agreement to be duly and

properly executed as of the day and date first written above

THE CITY OF HAYS

Barbara K Wasinger Mayor of
ATTEST

Doris
Wing City Clerk HAYS RECREATION

COMMISSION

L

nnJVlaska Chairman
3

20



Commission Work Session Agenda  
Memo  

From: Chad Ruder, Director of Information Technology 

Work Session: December 15, 2016 

Subject: Wastewater and Parks Fiber Network Connections 

Person(s) Responsible:  Chad Ruder, Director of Information Technology 

Summary
The computer network connections for Wastewater and Parks are currently being 
provided by aged wireless connections that are not designed for current usage. The new 
Wastewater Treatment Plant will require a fiber optic connection. The best long term 
solution to provide adequate speed and reliability to these two facilities is to connect each 
location to City Hall via high speed dedicated fiber optic cabling.  City Staff recommends 
approval to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Nex-tech in the 
amount of $70,435 for fiber optic cabling services for the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
and the Parks Department. Funding for this project will include $55,475 from the Sewer 
Capital Reserves Fund and $14,960 from the Special Park and Recreation Budget.     

Background 
The Wastewater Treatment Plant and the Parks Department currently operate on an aging 
wireless system that is not designed for current usage. One of the goals of the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant remodel is to increase the speed and reliability of their data network 
connection and to provide a solid and segregated connection back to the Water Treatment 
plant for their various monitoring systems.  This can be accomplished via our established 
progression of connecting City buildings to City Hall via high speed dedicated fiber optic 
cabling.  This process started in 1996 for Police, Water and Public Works and in 2012 for 
the Convention and Visitors Bureau.  The installation of the necessary fiber optic cabling 
to the Wastewater Plant also provides an opportunity to extend this connection to the 
Parks Department so that they may take advantage of the increased speed and reliability 
as well. 

Discussion 
Staff solicited proposals for a turnkey fiber optic connection from the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant to City Hall to connect to our core infrastructure.  It was also noted that 
the Parks Department was to be considered due to the proximity of the   facility.  The 
City received the following proposals: 

21



 

 

 
Nex-tech (12 strand purchase)   $70,435 
Eagle Communications (2 strand purchase)  $130,000 
Eagle Communications (6 strand purchase)  $216,000 
 
The reliability and speed increase of the fiber optic connection will result in the following 
improvements based on recent comparison: 
 

• 10MB File Copy to a Network Drive    0:08 VS 1:26 
• Larger PDF – Full Map Render  0:24 VS 9:38 

 
For comparison, there are also 10 years of advancements in wireless technologies 
available.  In real word scenarios however one can expect about half the speed of fiber on 
a consistent basis and a hardware refresh of 5 to 7 years as opposed to 20+ years with 
fiber.  This is in addition to tower maintenance, wind and ice signal loss, and wireless 
interference and security concerns.  Factors such as these along with our past experiences 
with fiber optic connections make the fiber the recommended solution.   
 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 

 
Financial Consideration 

The recommended proposal from Nex-tech meets all requirements to successfully 
provide fiber optic cabling services for the Wastewater Plant and Parks Department. The 
proposal amount of $70,435 will be funded using $55,475 from the Sewer Capital 
Reserves Fund and $14,960 from the Special Park and Recreation Budget. 
 

Options 
The City Commission has the following options: 

1. Continue with the current wireless connections  
2. Purchase fiber connectivity for current needs and future growth 
3. Provide Further Direction 

 
Recommendation 

City Staff recommends approval to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement 
with Nex-tech in the amount of $70,435 for fiber Optic cabling services for the 
Wastewater Treatment Plant and the Parks Department. Funding for this project will 
include $55,475 from the Sewer Capital Reserves Fund and $14,960 from the Special 
Park and Recreation Budget.  
  

Action Requested 
Approval to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Nex-tech in the 
amount of $70,435 for fiber optic cabling services for the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
and the Parks Department.  Funding for this project will include $55,475 from the Sewer 
Capital Reserves Fund and $14,960 from the Special Park and Recreation Budget  
 

Supporting Documentation 
Fiber Optic Connection Request for Proposal and Responses 

22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

From: John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 

Work Session: December 15, 2016 

Subject: 2017 Street Maintenance Program 

Person(s) Responsible:  Greg Sund, Director of Public Works 

Summary
Staff is presenting a plan for street maintenance in 2017.  The 2017 Special Highway 
Budget, including a transfer from the General Fund, provides approximately $1.2 million 
for street maintenance projects.  The plan presented by staff is based on a new pavement 
condition assessment recently completed and includes chip seal, seal coat, polypatch, 
curb and brick repair, concrete patching, sidewalk improvements, and in-house crack seal 
and asphalt repair.  Upon direction, staff will solicit bids for work to be contracted out, 
and bring bids back to the City Commission for final approval after the first of the year. 

Background 
Each year staff evaluates the condition of city streets and develops a maintenance 
program that is brought forward for Commission consideration.  Staff utilizes the most 
recent street condition data, traffic counts, and available budget in developing the 
program.  This year, a new pavement condition assessment was performed, and the 
results of that assessment helped direct the focus of the plan being presented.  The new 
pavement condition assessment report is attached to this memo. 

The Street Maintenance Program has been funded primarily with Special Highway 
Funds.  In 2016, contracts totaling $1,582,700 were completed; $24,000 of work was 
done in-house, and $5,000 spent on the Sidewalk Rebate projects for a total of more than 
$1.6 million.  

Staff’s presentation at the December 15, 2016 work session will provide more detail 
regarding the work that was completed in 2016, the recent Pavement Condition 
Assessment, and the maintenance program proposed for 2017. 

Discussion 
Based on the data from the new Pavement Condition Survey and institutional knowledge, 
staff has developed a street maintenance program for 2017.  Exhibit A shows the streets 
recommended for various maintenance activities in 2017.  The funding level for these 
projects is based on the Special Highway Funds budgeted for 2016.  Attempting to follow 
the recommendation of the Pavement Assessment, keeping streets from falling into a 
more expensive repair category, the proposed projects include: 

65



 
1. Asphalt Chip Seal     $410,000 
2. Asphalt Seal Coat     $175,000 
3. Poly-Patch (prep work for Chip Seal)   $  75,000 
4. Curb and Brick Repair    $190,000  
5. Concrete Pavement Patching   $280,000 
6. Sidewalk (rebate + select areas)   $  20,000  
7. In-house work (crack seal & pavement repairs) $  55,293 

TOTAL          $1,205,293 
 
1.  Chip Seal has proven to be a very cost effective treatment for keeping asphalt streets 
in good shape.  In 2016 much of the chip seal was east of Vine, in 2017, chip seal will be 
applied to areas in the northwest part of the City.   
 
2.  The Pavement Condition Assessment identified certain newer asphalt streets that need 
sealing of the surface, but not yet to the point of needing a chip seal.  In areas where chip 
seal is not desirable, Seal Coat provides a more attractive alternative. 
 
3.  Poly-Patch is necessary to fill larger cracks and depressions and prepare the streets for 
Chip Seal.   
 
4.  Curb and brick repair typically is performed in the old brick street areas of town.  This 
year’s project concentrates on the area of Ash Street between 17th and 18th Street.  This 
stretch of Ash Street is very rough and has a lot of failed utility patches.   Several areas of 
failed curb and valley gutter will be replaced as well.  Other select areas of brick repair 
may also be addressed if budget allows. 
 
5.  Concrete Pavement Patching consists of full panel replacement of sections of concrete 
streets that have deteriorated to the point where replacement is necessary. 
 
6.  The Sidewalk Rebate Program is offered each year to provide financial assistance to 
residential property owners whose sidewalks have deteriorated or fail to meet current 
ADA requirements.  The last few years, $20,000 has been set aside; however, only about 
$10,000 worth of applications are submitted and subsequently rebated.  However, in the 
past the balance has been used for in-house construction of sidewalks in areas where the 
cost of sidewalk construction cannot be forced on the adjacent property owner. 
  
7.  Finally, $55,293 remains to augment the purchase of crack seal material, asphalt and 
concrete for City Crews to perform in-house street maintenance. 
 

Legal Consideration 
Assuming compliance with the 1977 Brick Streets Policy, as amended, there are no 
known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City Staff. 

 
Financial Consideration 

Historically street maintenance has been financed through the Special Highway Fund, 
which receives revenue from the State, mainly from fuel tax reimbursements and 
Connecting Link Maintenance in the amount of approximately $590,000 per year.  
Beginning with the 2016 Budget and again in 2017, $500,000 per year is being 

66



transferred into Special Highway from the General Fund.  Therefore, the total available in 
Special Highway is approximately $1.2 million as detailed below: 
 

Available Funds in 2017 
Special Highway 
 - State Gas Tax Refund (KDOT)    $   546,190 
 - Connecting Link Maintenance (KDOT)   $     44,760 
 - Transfer from General Fund    $   500,000 
 - Cash Carryover      $   164,343 
 - Contingency (keep for unforeseen expenses)  $  -(50,000) 
Total Available      $1,205,293 
 

Options 
The Commission has the following options: 
Option 1: Accept the Street Maintenance Program for 2017 as presented and authorize 
staff to solicit bids for the proposed work to be accomplished in the 2017 construction 
season. 
Option 2: Provide alternate direction to staff. 

 
Recommendation 

City staff recommends Options 1.  
 

Action Requested 
Accept the Street Maintenance Program for 2017 as presented and authorize staff to 
solicit bids for the proposed work to be accomplished in the 2017 construction season.   
 
No need to go to Regular Meeting. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
Exhibit A – 2017 Street Maintenance Location Map  
Exhibit B – Pavement Condition Assessment 
 

67



11TH
AS

H

W
IL

LO
W

43RD

O
A

K

FO
R

T

13TH

21ST

37TH37TH

HWY 40

IDA

23RD

22ND

23RD

IN
D

IA
N

VI
N

E

27TH

N
C

K

37TH

17TH

NO
RT

H
CA

M
PU

S

PA
RK

G
O

LD
E

N
BE

LT

AG
N

ES

KING'S

22ND

6TH

RESERVATION

M
A

R
S

H
A

LL

HALL

PRIVATE

FO
R

T

C
O

V
EN

A
N

T

TA
M

AR
AC

PI
NE

9TH

D
EC

H
A

N
T

FRONT

R
O

LL
IN

G
H

IL
LS

5TH

PR
IV

AT
E

10TH

33RDBA
H

L 
FA

R
M

37TH

28TH

14TH

8TH

R
IL

E
Y

C
AN

A
L

G
E

N
ER

A
L

H
AY

S

45TH

PU
B

LI
C

W
O

R
K

S

HWY 40

BR
O

AD
W

AY

32ND

M
AI

N

TA
M

BROOKSIDE

32ND
EL

M

PI
NE

27TH

M
IL

NE
R

SP

GREENBRIER

COLUMBINE

45TH

4TH

36TH

M
IL

NE
R

17TH

39TH

AL
LE

N

12TH

8TH

24TH

TA
M

O
SH

AN
TE

R

HIGHLAND22ND

17TH

LE
W

IS

ELM

30TH

M
AIN

 ST

BARCLAY

C
ED

A
R

SP
R

U
C

E

SP

H
AL

L

W
A

LN
U

T

2ND

25TH
VIR

G
IN

IA

TH
U

N
D

E
R

B
IR

D

5TH

H
O

O
V

E
R

VA
N

BU
R

E
N

AMHURST

SP

G
E

N
ER

A
L

C
U

ST
E

R

M
IL

NE
R 21ST

SP

THUNDERBIRD

W
IL

LO
W

26TH

25TH

26TH
26TH

10TH

D
O

N
A

LD

21ST

TR
IN

ITY

EL
M

15TH
G

E
N

ER
A

L
LA

W
TO

N

G
E

N
ER

A
L 

H
AY

S

29TH

35TH

29TH

19TH

8TH

EL
M

SM
O

K
Y

H
IL

L

SK
Y

LI
N

E

22ND

24TH

C
O

U
N

TR
Y

19TH

23RD

JU
D

ITH

MAIZE

H
W

Y
18

3
FR

O
N

TA
G

E

24TH

GENERAL

CUSTER

29TH

29TH

LI
N

C
O

LN

AS
H

H
EN

R
Y

LA
W

R
E

N
C

E

13TH

SU
M

M
E

R

42ND

26TH

O
AK

H
IL

LC
R

E
S

T

C
AN

TE
R

B
U

R
YPI

NE

8TH

20TH

33RD

10TH

8TH

M
A

R
JO

R
IE

KA
TH

Y

21ST

37TH

SUNSET

40TH

22ND

29TH

M
IL

LS
TO

N
E

35TH

SOUTHCAMPUS

FA
IR

W
AY

29TH

15THROM
E

VI
N

E
 S

T
FR

O
N

TA
G

E

PRIVATE

COPPER

CREEK

W
O

O
D

R
O

W

JA
K

E

18TH

LY
M

AN

31ST

39TH

38TH

SA
NT

A 
FE

W
H

E
AT

LA
N

D

CO
LO

NI
AL

PRIVATE

15TH

JE
FF

E
R

S
O

N

21ST

23RD

D
W

IG
H

T

M
A

IN

17TH

20TH

3RD

AR
N

H
O

LD

16TH

MOTZ

H
W

Y
 1

83

ST
ER

NB
ER

G

SCHWALLER

TR
U

M
AN

37TH

11TH

22ND

8TH

22ND

9TH

8TH

15TH

14TH

11TH

12TH

14TH

16TH

16TH

17TH

11TH

9TH

15TH

15TH

5TH
5TH

8TH

8TH

6TH

6TH

20TH

29TH

PRIVATE

25TH

38TH

20TH

PR
IV

AT
E

CODY

44TH

CU
ST

ER

M
A

P
LE

D
O

N
A

LD

SKYLIN
E

C
ED

A
R

SH
E

R
M

A
N

8TH

AN
TH

O
N

Y

JU
D

IT
H

H
AR

V
E

S
T

5TH

M
IL

NE
R

7TH

H
AR

R
IS

O
N

30TH

15TH

7TH

33RD

9TH

16TH

6TH

14TH

21ST

4TH

25TH

18TH

12TH

19TH

23RD

40TH

3RD

24TH

NCK

PERSHING

24TH

48TH

20TH

24TH

43RD

N
O

R
TH

R
ID

G
E

12TH

LO
N

G
FE

LLO
W

24TH

28TH
PATIO

24TH

G
R

A
N

T

LIMESTONE

17TH

4TH

15TH

10TH

METRO

C
H

AU
M

O
N

T

H
AN

E
Y

23RD

32ND

6TH

29TH

14TH

D
O

N
A

LD

18TH

34TH

C
EN

TE
N

N
IA

L 
M

AL
L

M
A

C
 A

R
TH

U
R

M
A

D
IS

O
N

EI
S

E
N

H
O

W
E

R

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
E

N
EW

TO
N

33RD

BUTTERFIELD

37TH

H
AN

E
Y

VI
N

E
 S

T
FR

O
N

TA
G

E

VI
S

TA

PRIVATE

MAIN
ST

G
E

N
ER

A
L

H
AY

S

SH
E

R
M

A
N

FE
LT

E
N

HA
RP

ER

19TH

OAKMONT

I-70
34TH

EN
G

LE
W

O
O

D

R
O

TH

YE
LL

O
W

S
TO

N
E

LA
R

N
E

D

27TH ST
FRONTAGE

KE
Y

S
TO

N
E

PO
ST

32ND

28TH

D
AN

B
Y

PRIVATE

FI
LL

M
O

R
E

CASTILLIAN

JO
S

IE

PINEHURST

KI
N

G
'S

G
AT

E

22ND

28TH

28TH
ST

PUBLIC
WORKS

19TH

TI
M

B
E

R

VI
R

G
IN

IA

CIRCLE

HWY
183

DO
W

NING

19TH

28TH

AU
G

U
ST

A

AR
B

O
R

OLD US 40

27TH

PRIVATE

PRIVATE

22ND

I-70

38TH

CANAL

36TH

R
O

O
SEVELT

H
IL

LC
R

E
S

T

GENERAL HAYS

25TH

8TH

DOWNING

OAKMONT

JP

30TH

31ST

DOUGLAS
VI

N
E

CO
LL

EG
E

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

BR
O

AD
W

AY

TECHNICAL

FRONTIER

EL
M

W
A

LN
U

T

C
O

TT
O

N
W

O
O

D

M
A

R
JO

R
IE

FE
LT

E
N

I-70

41ST

I-70

W
H

IT
TI

E
R

D
R

U
M

I-70

C
AN

A
L

MOTZ I-70

NORTHCAMPUS

SU
M

M
ER

GUSTAD

W
E

S
TE

R
N

 P
LA

IN
S

VO
LG

A

HWY
183

DRUM

24
0T

H

CO
LO

NI
AL

SP

R
O

TH
R

O
TH

SK
YL

IN
E

27
0T

H

PO
ST

R
O

C
K

PL
A

ZA

24
0T

H

LIN
C

O
LN

EP
W

O
R

TH

PRIVATE

41ST

AIRBASE

HWY 183

23
0T

H

NOOSE

C
O

U
N

TR
Y

9TH

GOLF COURSE

HILLTOP

C
AN

TE
R

B
U

R
Y

STSUBSEGG
REHAB YR 2017

BRICK REPAIR

CHIP SEAL

CONCRETE PATCH

SEAL COAT

68



2017 
Pavement Management 

Report 
 

The City of Hays 
Public Works Department 

 

 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 
 

MDS Technologies, Inc. 
350 S. Northwest Highway, Suite 300 

Park Ridge, IL 60068 
December 2016 

69

johnbraun
Typewritten Text

johnbraun
Typewritten Text

johnbraun
Typewritten Text

johnbraun
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT B

johnbraun
Typewritten Text



 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Table of Contents ............................................................................................. 1 
1.0 Introduction .......................................................................................... 2 
2.0 Field Data Collection .............................................................................. 2 
3.0 Pavement Condition Evaluation Procedure ........................................... 3 

3.1 Distress Types ............................................................................................ 3 
3.2 Rating Factors ............................................................................................ 4 
3.3 Weighting Factors and Deduct Scores........................................................... 4 
3.4 Pavement Condition Index Calculation .......................................................... 6 

4.0 Current Pavement Condition ................................................................. 6 
5.0 Future Condition .................................................................................... 8 
6.0 Budget Analysis ..................................................................................... 9 

6.1 Rehabilitation Strategies .............................................................................. 9 
6.2 Budget Composition .................................................................................... 9 
6.3 Project Selection Priority ........................................................................... 10 
6.4 Inflation Rates .......................................................................................... 11 
6.5 Budget Analysis Results ............................................................................ 11 

7.0:  Rehabilitation Projects for Consideration .............................................. 13 
Appendix A:  Lucity Rehabilitation Program for $1.2M Annual Budget .......... 15 

70



1.0 Introduction 
 
The City of Hays, Kansas (subsequently referred to as “City” or “The City”) maintains an 
extensive road network consisting of approximately 120.53 center-line miles of roads.  
This road network is a major City asset that requires ongoing maintenance and 
rehabilitation to provide a desirable level of service to the traveling public.   
 
The City uses software developed by Lucity, Inc. to help City staff manage its pavement 
network.  The City’s road network is defined as a series of discrete segments in this 
system.  Each segment is tagged with descriptive information such as Street Name and 
From/To descriptors to indentify the location of the segment.  Important attributes such 
as segment length, width, pavement type, and functional classification are stored for 
each segment.  This system provides the means to systematically evaluate pavement 
condition, develop rehabilitation programs, and estimate the impact that various funding 
scenarios would have on the condition of the City’s road network. 
 
The City commissioned MDS Technologies, Inc. (MDST) to update the pavement 
inspection data in the Lucity system and to use the system to estimate the budget 
required to achieve the City’s long term pavement condition objectives.   
 
The processes used to implement the City’s pavement management system are 
described below.  Key outputs of the system are also provided and discussed in this 
report. 

2.0 Field Data Collection 
 
An important component of the pavement management analysis is the inspection of 
each road segment.  These inspections provided the data required to assess the 
condition of the City’s roads.   
 
MDST used a vehicle-based approach to collect geo-referenced digital images of City 
maintained streets.  Roof mounted cameras were used to capture sequential images of 
each pavement segment.  A two camera system was used.  One of the cameras was 
used to acquire forward looking, pavement-oriented images capturing a general 
streetscape view.  The second camera was mounted at the rear of the vehicle and was 
used to capture a downward looking, detailed pavement view.  Images were captured at 
approximately 10 foot intervals so that the entire pavement surface could be evaluated 
when the images are viewed sequentially.  The image capture process was monitored in 
real time by the vehicle operator to ensure that the quality of the captured images met 
the required standard for downstream condition assessment work in the office.   
 
Positioning data for each image was acquired though GPS technology.  The positioning 
data allows pavement condition data to be extracted from the images and assigned to 
the corresponding pavement segment.   
 
 

71



3.0 Pavement Condition Evaluation Procedure 
 
The geo-referenced pavement 
images were loaded into a 
software application so that a 
‘virtual drive’ of City streets could 
be performed in an office 
environment.   The adjacent image 
shows typical forward and 
downward images obtained from 
the data collection vehicle. 
MDST staff viewed the sequential 
images from both cameras to 
determine the severity and extent 
of the distresses that existed on a 
road segment.  This data was then 
loaded into the pavement management database and used to calculate a numeric score 
representing the condition of each road segment. 
 

3.1 Distress Types 
 
The condition of each road segment is reflected in its Pavement Condition Index (PCI) 
score.  This index is calculated by the Lucity system based on the severity and extent of 
various surface distresses that exist on a road surface.  Distresses are typically caused 
by load-related and/or climate-related factors.  
  
The Lucity system was previously configured to consider the distresses in Table 1. 
Warping was added to the list of distresses considered by the system as several Portland 
Cement Concrete (PCC) pavements maintained by the City are experiencing this distress.  
 

Table 1 
Distresses Considered in the Lucity System 

 

Asphalt Concrete 
(AC) 

Portland Cement Concrete 
(PCC) 

Brick Paver 

   

Alligator Cracking Linear Cracking Transverse Profile 

Long. and Trans. Cracking Divided Slab Distortion 

Map/Block Cracking Corner Break Potholes and Patching 

Edge Cracking Joint Spalling Missing Bricks 

Rutting Faulting  

Distortion Scaling  

Bleeding Polishing  

Weathering/Raveling Potholes and Patching  

Potholes and Patching Warping  

   

72



3.2 Rating Factors 
 
A Rating Factor was assigned to each distress type based on the observed severity and 
extent of the distresses on the segment in question.   Rating Factors were assigned 
based on the matrix in Table 2.  The extent (or amount) of distress was either zero or 
fell into one of five ranges as shown in the Extent Range column in the Table.  The 
extent ranges are area-based.  Some distresses, such as Longitudinal and Transverse 
Cracking, are assessed on a linear basis.  For linear distresses, cracks are assumed to be 
1 foot wide for purposes of converting to a corresponding area.  On a two-lane road of 
typical width, a single crack running the entire length of the segment converts to an 
equivalent area of about 4 percent. 
 
The severity of distresses fall into one of three categories – Low, Moderate, and High.  If 
a distress occurs at more than more one severity level, the most predominant severity is 
selected to represent all severity levels. 
 
The combination of the Extent Range and the predominant Severity Level determines 
the Rating Factor.  For example, if a distress was observed to affect between 10 and 30 
percent of the area of a segment at the moderate severity level, then the Rating Factor 
is 7.0.  If a distress was not observed, then the Rating Factor is 10.0. 
 
 

Table 2 
Assignment of Distress Rating Factor 

 

Extent Range Low Severity Moderate Severity High Severity 

    

0 10.0 10.0 10.0 

0 to 4% 9.5 9.0 8.0 

4 to 10% 9.0 8.0 6.0 

10 to 30% 8.5 7.0 4.0 

30 to 60% 8.0 6.0 2.0 

60 to 100% 7.5 5.0 0.0 

    

 
 

3.3 Weighting Factors and Deduct Scores 
 
Each Distress Type is assigned a Weighting Factor based on the relative importance of 
that Distress Type.  The Weighting Factors are listed in Table 3.   
 
A Deduct Score is calculated for each Distress Type.  The Deduct Score is calculated as 
follows: 
 

Deduct Score = (10 – Rating Factor) * Weighting Factor 

73



Table 3 
Distress Type Weighting Factors 

 

Pavement Type Distress Type Weighting Factor 

   

AC Alligator Cracking 10.0 

AC Long. and Trans. Cracking 8.0 

AC Map/Block Cracking 5.5 

AC Edge Cracking 4.5 

AC Rutting 9.5 

AC Distortion 7.0 

AC Bleeding 4.5 

AC Weathering/Raveling 5.5 

AC Potholes and Patching 8.0 

PCC Linear Cracking 5.5 

PCC Divided Slab 9.5 

PCC Corner Break 8.5 

PCC Joint Spalling 4.0 

PCC Faulting 7.0 

PCC Scaling 4.5 

PCC Polishing 1.0 

PCC Potholes and Patching 6.0 

PCC Warping 9.0 

Brick Transverse Profile 9.5 

Brick Distortion 7.0 

Brick Potholes and Patching 8.0 

Brick Missing Bricks 10.0 

   

 
 
If moderate severity Alligator Cracking occurs in the 10 to 30% extent range, the Rating 
Factor from Table 2 is 7.0, and the Weighting Factor from Table 3 is 10.0.  Using the 
above equation, the Deduct Score for Alligator Cracking is: 
 

Deduct Score Alligator Cracking = (10 – 7.0) * 10.0 = 30 
 
If low severity Longitudinal and Transverse Cracking occurs in the 4 to 10% range, the 
Rating Factor is 9.0, the Weighting Factor is 8.0, and the Deduct Score is: 
 

Deduct Score L & T Cracking = (10 – 9.0) * 8.0 = 8 
 

 
 
 

74



3.4 Pavement Condition Index Calculation 
 
The Pavement Condition Index (PCI) model is used to calculate a numeric score on a 
scale of one hundred (100) to zero (0).  A score of 100 indicates that a pavement is 
exhibiting no distress.  A subtraction from the perfect score of 100 is made for each 
Distress Type that exists on a segment.  The PCI is calculated as follows: 
 
PCI = 100 - ∑ Deduct Scores 
 
Carrying through with the above example, the PCI score for a pavement with moderate 
severity Alligator Cracking in the 10 to 30% extent range and low severity L & T 
cracking in the 4 to 10% range is: 
 
PCI = 100 – (30 + 8) = 62 
 
A PCI score is calculated for each road segment.  The PCI score for a road segment can 
be easily accessed through the Lucity system, or a computer report can be generated 
that lists the PCI score for all the City’s road segments.  Such reports can be sorted 
and/or filtered as required.  The Lucity system is linked to the City’s GIS, so it is also 
possible to map pavement condition and other useful information on an electronic map. 
 

4.0 Current Pavement Condition 
 
The results of the current condition analysis for the City’s roads are discussed below.  It 
is important to note that the PCI score of each segment represents its condition at the 
time that the condition data was collected.  MDST staff captured this data over two days 
in mid-July 2016.  Also, since the road segments vary in size, simple arithmetic averages 
do not accurately represent the overall road conditions.  The summary data presented in 
this report is weighted by segment area to address this issue.   
 
The condition distribution of the City’s roads is summarized in Figure 1.  About 6.9 
percent of the City’s roads have a PCI score of 40 or less.   A PCI score of 40 or less 
indicates that a road segment is in Poor or worse condition. Pavements that fall into this 
group (particularly those in the low end of this range) are typically candidates for partial 
or full reconstruction as resurfacing strategies are often not effective in this case.   
 
An additional 15.8 percent of the City’s roads had a PCI score in the 40 to 60 range 
(Marginal to Fair condition).  Roads in this condition may be candidates for major 
rehabilitation if a functional or structural deficiency exists, or they may be candidates for 
a non-structural rehabilitation or preventative maintenance treatment that temporarily 
halts or slows deterioration.  These pavements are at a critical point in their service 
lives.  The cost to administer an effective maintenance/rehabilitation strategy to these 
pavements is still relatively low. However, if continued deterioration is allowed, the cost 
to rehabilitate these pavements can be expected to increase significantly.    
 

75



 
 

Figure 1:  Current Condition of City Roads 
 

A large percentage of the City’s pavements – 37.7 percent - have a PCI score ranging 
from 60 to 80.  These pavements are in Satisfactory condition.  Pavements that fall into 
this range are exhibiting some distress but can typically have their life extended through 
the application of preventative maintenance.   
 
About 39.6 percent of the City’s pavements have a PCI scores ranging from 80 to 100.  
These pavement exhibit little to no distress and are in Good condition.   Pavement 
sections in the low end of this range may be candidates for lighter-duty preventative 
maintenance. 
 
Overall, the City’s pavements have an average PCI score of 73.0 out of 100.  The 
average PCI of the City’s roads were determined to be 70 in a previous study conducted 
in 2011.  However, different methods were used in the previous study, so direct 
comparison between the two evaluations is difficult. 

 
 
 
 
 

76



5.0 Future Condition 
  
The Lucity system has the ability to estimate future PCI scores for pavements.  To do 
this, pavement deterioration models are required that reflect the conditions in the City of 
Hays.  The typical life cycle of Asphaltic Concrete (AC) and Portland Cement Concrete 
(PCC) pavements was provided by City staff.  This information is reproduced in Table 4.  
 
The table shows that the life of a typical AC pavement is extended through a series of 
progressively more robust surface treatments. Crack Sealing is not specifically 
mentioned in the table but is generally performed in conjunction with surface 
treatments. With this surface treatment program, a typical AC pavement is expected to 
last about 40 years until resurfacing (mill and overlay) is required, and 70 years until it 
ultimately needs to be replaced.  Similarly, PCC pavements experience progressively 
more significant patching and joint repair until ultimately needing to be replaced at 
roughly age 70 years. 
 

Table 4 
Life Cycle of AC and PCC Pavements 

 

AC Pavements PCC Pavements 

Year Treatment Year Treatment 

    

3 Rejuvenator 10 Patch/Joint Repair (2%) 

8 Rejuvenator 20 Diamond Grind 

13 Sand Seal/Chip Seal 30 Patch/Joint Repair (5%) 

18 Sand Seal/Chip Seal 40 Patch/Joint Repair (10%) 

22 Microsurface 50 Patch/Joint Repair (10%) 

27 Sand Seal/Chip Seal 70 Replace 

31 Microsurface   

36 Sand Seal/Chip Seal   

40 Mill and Overlay   

43 Rejuvenator   

48 Rejuvenator   

53 Sand Seal/Chip Seal   

58 Sand Seal/Chip Seal   

62 Microsurface   

70 Replace   

    

 
 
Deterioration models were constructed in Lucity that reflect the deterioration rates and 
life expectancy in the above table.  Brick surfaced streets, which are underlain by a PCC 
material, were assumed to also have a 70 year life.  The primary repair strategy for brick 
pavements involves removal of brick pavers in localized areas, repair of the underlying 
base material, and reinstatement of the brick pavers. 
 

77



6.0 Budget Analysis  
 
The Lucity system was used to estimate the effect that various pavement rehabilitation 
budgets would have on the overall condition of the City’s road network.  This analysis 
was performed over a ten (10) year time frame.  Inputs to the rehabilitation 
programming/budget analysis were set so that the analysis matched the policies and 
practices of the City to the greatest extent possible.  These inputs are discussed below.   
 

6.1 Rehabilitation Strategies 
 
The pavement rehabilitation strategies and associated unit costs used by the City are 
shown below in Table 5.  These were supplied by City staff.  Each strategy is used under 
certain circumstances.  For example, Rejuvenator is only used early in the life of roads 
with an Asphaltic Concrete surface, while Microsurfacing can be used on pavements with 
either an Asphaltic Concrete or Portland Cement Concrete surface.  A decision model 
was developed in Lucity that models the City’s policies regarding which strategies can be 
considered by the program for pavements of varying pavement type (i.e. AC, PCC, or 
Brick) and functional classification (i.e. arterial, collector, residential). 
 
The PCI Range sets the limits for the PCI score required for the program to consider the 
associated strategy.  For example, if an AC segment has a PCI score of 35, it is a 
candidate for 2-inch Mill and Overlay.  The Breakpoint PCI settings are also shown.  A 
segment is treated as a higher priority when its PCI score falls between the Minimum 
PCI and the Breakpoint PCI.  This increases the likelihood that the segment will be 
selected for inclusion in the program before its PCI falls below the minimum for that 
strategy, thus avoiding a more costly strategy later. 
 
The unit costs do not include the costs for any curb and/or sidewalk replacement that 
the City might consider desirable or required on any particular project.  They also do not 
include the cost to replace other infrastructure such as water lines, storm sewer, or 
sanitary sewer.  

6.2 Budget Composition 
 
Budget analysis can be performed in an unconstrained manner, or a percentage of the 
budget can be specified for each rehabilitation strategy (or group of strategies) that 
cannot be exceeded.  The budget analysis was unconstrained for the City of Hays, 
meaning that the program was allowed to allocate funding to any potential project 
based on cost effectiveness. 
 
The program is configured, however, to constrain the analysis in the future if desired by 
the City.   
 
 
 

78



Table 5 
Rehabilitation Activities and Unit Costs 

 

Rehabilitation Strategy Unit 
Cost 

($/yd2) 

PCI 
Range 

Breakpoint 
PCI 

PCI 
Increase 

     

Rejuvenator 0.80 85 to 100 90 8 

Sand Seal 1.80 77 to 85 82 7 

Chip Seal 1.80 67 to 80 72 8 

Microsurfacing 4.00 57 to 70 62 8 

2 inch Mill and Overlay 15.00 30 to 55 40 1001 

AC Reconstruct 60.00 0 to 30 15 1001 

PCC Small Patch/Joint Repair (2%) 2.50 75 to 90 45 15 

PCC Medium Patch/Joint Repair (5%) 5.75 50 to 75 60 15 

Diamond Grind 7.25 40 to 70 50 15 

PCC Large Patch/Joint Repair (10%) 11.00 30 to 50 40 15 

PCC Reconstruct 90.00 0 to 30 15 1001 

Brick R & R 12.00 0 to 70 30 801 

     

 
1Values represent the PCI reset value.  For example, application of a 2-inch mill and 
overlay results in a PCI score of 100.  All other values represent the increase in PCI 
resulting from application of the strategy. 

6.3 Project Selection Priority 
 
In the Lucity system, each rehabilitation strategy is assigned a Maintenance Sequence 
number.  The lower the Maintenance Sequence number, the higher the priority.  In 
cases where the program can consider more than one rehabilitation strategy for a 
segment, the strategy with the lowest Maintenance Sequence number is selected.  
Maintenance Sequence numbers were assigned in increasing order as the strategies 
become progressively more heavy-duty, thus favoring lighter-duty strategies.  This is 
consistent with the main principal of pavement management which is to spend a 
relatively small amount of money earlier in the life of a pavement to defer larger 
expenditures on more robust strategies to later time. 
 
Once the best strategy is selected for each segment, segments “compete” with each 
other to be included in the program based on the cost effectiveness of each potential 
project.  The benefit of implementing a project is determined by the resulting increase in 
PCI multiplied by a benefit weighting factor.  For the City of Hays, this weighting factor 
was assigned by functional classification to take into account that some roads carry 
more traffic than others and that more motorists will benefit from rehabilitation of higher 
traffic volume roads.  Arterial roads have a weighting factor of 1.5, collector roads have 
a weighting factor of 1.3, and residential roads have a weighting factor of 1.1.  Brick 
roads of any functional classification have a weighting factor of 1.0. 
 

79



Also, when the PCI of a segment falls below the breakpoint PCI assigned to a 
rehabilitation strategy, that potential project is weighted higher to increase the chances 
that it will be included in the program before a higher cost strategy is required. 

6.4 Inflation Rates 
 
All analysis was performed in today’s dollars.  The potential effect of inflation is not 
considered due to the inherent difficulties in predicting future prices of construction 
materials.  To be consistent with this approach, it was assumed that future budget 
figures would not be inflated either.  For example, $1.2M in 2017 has the same buying 
power as $1.2M in 2026 (10 years later).  

6.5 Budget Analysis Results 
 
The Lucity system was used to assess the impact that various pavement rehabilitation 
funding scenarios will have on the condition of the road network.  Several 10-year 
budget scenarios were analyzed as discussed below.  The result of this analysis is 
summarized in tabular form in Table 6 and graphically in Figure 2. 
 
The City current budget for pavement rehabilitation is approximately $1.2 million per 
year.  If this budget were to remain unchanged over the next 10 years, Table 6 shows 
that the average PCI of the road network is expected to decrease from 72.7 to 71.3, a 
decrease of 1.9 percent over the 10-year period. The Backlog column in the table 
represents the cost of all possible projects that could not be done in that year due to 
funding constraints.  Note that with the $1.2M annual budget the cost of unfunded 
projects grows from $11.4 million to $15.1 million over 10 years.  This is a 32 percent 
increase which indicates that this budget may not be sufficient to meet the City’s needs 
over the long term.  The detailed 10-year rehabilitation program created by the Lucity 
program for this budget is provided in Appendix A.  
 
The effect of three additional budgets on the condition of the road network is also 
provided.   A $0.9 million annual budget leads to an overall PCI of 68.9, which is a 5.2 
percent decrease from current levels.   In this case, the backlog of unfunded projects 
increases by 49.1 percent to $17.0 million in 10 years. 
 
An annual budget of $1.5 million leads to a 1.0 percent increase in the average PCI of 
the network.  However, the backlog of unfunded projects continues to increase.  In this 
case the backlog is $14.2 million after 10 years, an increase of 27.9 percent over the 
anticipated 2017 level. 
 
Analysis indicates that an annual budget of approximately $1.8 million is required to 
keep the backlog of unfunded projects at current levels.  This budget also results in a 
4.0 percent increase in the average PCI of the network after 10 years.  
 
 
 
 
 

80



Table 6 
Estimated Overall PCI for Various Funding Scenarios 

 

Year $0.9M 
Annually 

$1.2M 
Annually 

$1.5M 
Annually 

$1.8M 
Annually 

 PCI Backlog PCI Backlog PCI Backlog PCI Backlog 

2017 72.7 $11.7M 72.7 $11.4M 72.9 $11.1M 72.9 $10.8M 

2018 73.3 $12.2M 73.6 $12.0M 73.8 $12.0M 74.1 $12.1M 

2019 72.4 $14.7M 73.1 $14.2M 73.7 $12.9M 74.1 $12.1M 

2020 72.1 $15.6M 73.0 $14.4M 73.9 $12.5M 74.5 $11.3M 

2021 71.7 $16.9M 72.6 $14.5M 73.4 $12.2M 74.6 $11.4M 

2022 71.5 $16.8M 72.4 $13.8M 74.3 $11.5M 73.1 $15.5M 

2023 70.5 $17.7M 71.6 $14.4M 72.5 $14.8M 73.7 $14.4M 

2024 70.0 $18.5M 71.5 $15.1M 73.2 $14.2M 74.7 $13.7M 

2025 69.8 $19.6M 71.4 $16.6M 72.7 $13.9M 75.0 $12.7M 

2026 68.9 $20.8M 71.3 $17.0M 73.6 $14.2M 75.8 $10.6M 

 
 
 

 
 

Figure 2: 
Estimated Effect of Various Funding Scenarios on Overall Road Condition 

81



7.0:  Rehabilitation Projects for Consideration 
 
Several rehabilitation projects that the City might consider for high priority 
implementation have been identified.  This includes ten (10) potential projects for 
primary consideration and an additional five (5) projects that should also receive serious 
consideration.  All of these projects would likely involve some form of reconstruction, 
mill and overlay, or significant joint repair and panel replacement on Portland Cement 
Concrete roads.  The locations of these project are shown in Figure 3.  
 
The criteria used to identify these projects is as follows: 
 

 Several connected (or nearly connected) segments along a road having 
consistently low PCI scores; 

  Higher traffic volume roads more likely to be included in the program to account 
for the fact that the benefits of the project would be enjoyed by more users; 

 Projects that would tie into recent rehabilitation on adjacent segments of the 
same road to create a long stretch of road in good condition received additional 
consideration; 

 Only Asphaltic Concrete and Portland Cement Concrete roads were considered as 
part of this exercise.  Brick surfaced roads were not considered, and; 

 An effort was made to distribute the projects throughout the City. 

 
The City may want to consider other factors when making a final determination as to 
which roads to rehabilitate.  These factors could include capacity issues, the need to 
install and/or replace curb and gutter or shoulders, the condition and capacity of 
underground utilities, compliance with the Americans with Disabilities ACT (ADA), and 
other items that could come into play on a case-by-case basis. 
 

82



 
Figure 3:  Rehabilitation Projects for Priority Consideration 

 

83



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A:  Lucity Rehabilitation Program for $1.2M 
Annual Budget 

 
 

84



Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

From: John Braun, Assistant Director of Public Works 

Work Session: December 15, 2016 

Subject: Airport Capital Improvement Program Update 

Person(s) Responsible:  Greg Sund, Director of Public Works 

Summary
The FAA requires the Hays Regional Airport to annually update the Airport Capital 
Improvement Program (ACIP).  The update presented here covers Federal Fiscal Years 
(FFY) 2018-2022 and is due to the FAA by January 16, 2017.  These projects will be 
included in the City’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) as part of the 2018 budget. 

Background 
Each year City Staff, the Airport Consulting Engineer, and the Airport Advisory Board 
review the projects on the ACIP and submit updates to the FAA for potential funding.  If 
approved by the FAA, projects are typically funded at 90%, leaving 10% to be funded by 
the City.  Local funding usually comes from the Airport Improvement Fund and the 
Passenger Facility Charge (PFC).  Recent projects have included: acquisition of a Snow 
Broom, Rehabilitation of the Crosswind Runway, the Airport Terminal Remodel, and 
Reconstruction of the Main Runway.  The FFY 2017 Projects include the construction of 
a Wildlife Fence and Rehabilitation of Taxiway I. 

During City budget preparation, staff will incorporate the proposed ACIP projects into 
the CIP as part of the proposed budget; however, FAA typically does not respond to the 
City’s proposed ACIP update until September or October, so the projects in the City’s 
CIP may not necessarily be those approved by FAA; such is the case with the 2017 
Budget CIP as is discussed further in the next section of this memo. 

Discussion 
The proposed Five-Year Airport Capital Improvement Plan (ACIP ) is attached to this 
memo and includes the following projects: 

All costs have been updated for inflation and changes in project scope by the City’s 
engineer (BMcD). 

1. FFY 2017 - Wildlife Fencing Improvements
• Estimated Cost $2,000,000 Local share = $200,000  (Airport

Improvement Fund/PFC eligible)

85



• A Wildlife Hazard Assessment was completed in 2013, which identified 
the need for a 10’ fence to be constructed around the airfield to keep 
wildlife (mostly deer) from entering the area.  During an FAA inspection, 
deer were observed by the FAA inspector on the airfield causing this to be 
a priority for the FAA.   

• Although this is a 2017 project and therefore not part of the 2018-2022 
update being submitted to the FAA, staff has included it here for City 
Commission reference.     

2. FFY 2017 – Reconstruct Taxiway I 
• Estimated Cost $599,040     Local share = $59,904   (Airport Improvement 

Fund/PFC eligible) 
• Replace the oldest of the taxiways in the hangar area and correct drainage 

issues.   
• Although this is a 2017 project and therefore not part of the 2018-2022 

update being submitted to the FAA, staff has included it here for City 
Commission reference.   

• The 2017 Budget CIP showed this as a 2019 project; however, the FAA 
had money available in FFY 2017, so the project was accelerated as 
described at the October 20, 2016 City Commission Work Session.     

3. FFY 2019 – Snow Removal Equipment (Loader) 
• Estimated Cost $267,500 Local share = $26,750 (New Equipment 

Reserve Fund)  
• The 1996 Case 621B loader at the airport is over 20 years old and the 

FAA will fund 90% of the replacement cost.  The airport needs a reliable 
loader to perform many snow removal functions as well as other 
operational activities throughout the year.   

• The 2017 Budget CIP showed this as a 2018 purchase. However, there 
will not be adequate FAA entitlement money available to Hays Regional 
Airport in 2018 to fund the FAA share of the loader, so the acquisition is 
being delayed until FFY 2019.  

4. FFY 2020 - Apron Drainage Improvements 
• Estimated Cost $623,650   Local share = $62,365 (Airport Improvement 

Fund/PFC eligible) 
• This would involve installing a trench drain within the apron area and 

replacing isolated pavement panels to improve stormwater drainage from 
the apron.   

• The 2017 Budget CIP showed this as a 2020 project and it remains as a 
2020 project.   

5. FFY 2020 – Land Acquisition 
• Estimated Cost $500,000   Local share = $50,000   (Airport Improvement 

Fund/PFC eligible) 
• The ultimate build out of the airport as shown on the Airport Layout 

Drawing from the 2010 Airport Master Plan calls for the expansion of the 
general aviation hangar area to the east and/or south of the existing hangar 
area.  Funding is being programed should the opportunity to acquire land 
become available.  

• The 2017 Budget CIP shows this in the Priority Queue. 
6. FFY 2021 – Runway 4-22 Lighting Upgrade 

86



• Estimated Cost $762,000   Local share = $76,200   (Airport Improvement 
Fund/PFC eligible) 

• The crosswind runway (RNWY 4-22) lighting is direct bury and subject to 
damage from burrowing animals, natural corrosion, and accidental 
damage.  Installing new cabling in conduit with light base cans will 
prevent unpredictable outages and difficult trouble shooting.  The old light 
fixtures would also be upgraded to new, more energy efficient lights that 
would result in reduced electrical utility costs. 

• The 2017 Budget CIP shows this in the Priority Queue. 
7. FFY 2022 – Rehabilitate Taxiway M (Design) 

• Estimated Cost $407,500   Local share = $47,500   (Airport Improvement 
Fund/PFC eligible) 

• Taxiway M runs parallel to the main runway.  The project would involve 
making repairs to failed areas of the taxiway and widening turning radii at 
intersections to better accommodate larger aircraft.  The total project cost 
is estimated to be over $4,000,000.  Only design would occur in 2022.  
Construction could be in 2024.  

• The 2017 Budget CIP listed this project in 2021.  This project has been 
pushed back to 2022 to allow for higher priority projects to be completed 
first. 

8. FFY 2023 – Parking Lot Improvements 
• Estimated Cost $132,715   Local share = $13,272   (Airport Improvement 

Fund/PFC eligible) 
• Repair existing parking lot and add additional spaces as necessary.  
• The 2017 Budget CIP showed this as a 2021 project. This project has been 

pushed back to 2023 to allow for higher priority projects to be completed 
first.  If necessary, parking lot improvements could be accomplished in-
house.   

• This project no longer shows up on the Airport Five-Year Plan (2018-
2022), however, it is listed here for Commission information since it was 
listed in the 2018 Budget CIP for 2021. 

 
Legal Consideration 

N/A – information only 
 

Financial Consideration 
This Airport Capital Improvement Plan (ACIP) update will be used to develop the 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) submitted within the 2018 Budget.  Considering the 
projected transfers to the Airport Improvement Fund and reimbursements from the 
Passenger Facility Charge (PFC), the Airport Improvement Fund should have adequate 
funding to cover the local share of the projects proposed.  A spreadsheet showing 
projected Airport Improvement Fund balances based on the projects proposed is attached 
to this memo. 
 

Options 
N/A – information only, as staff intends to submit proposed ACIP to FAA based on 
Commission discussion. 

 

87



Recommendation 
The Airport Advisory Board approved the proposed submission to the FAA at the 
December 5, 2016 Airport Advisory Board Meeting. 
 

Action Requested 
N/A 
 

Supporting Documentation 
Five-Year Airport Capital Improvement Program (ACIP) 
2017 Budget CIP for reference 
Airport Improvement Fund Projected Balances Spreadsheet 
 

88



Airport Name: Telephone No. 

Date Prepared:

Project Description
Funding 

Source
FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022

Federal 240,750.00$        
State
Local 26,750.00$          
Total -$                     267,500.00$        -$                     -$                     -$                     
Federal 561,285.00$        
State
Local 62,365.00$          
Total -$                     -$                     623,650.00$        -$                     -$                     
Federal 450,000.00$        
State
Local 50,000.00$          
Total -$                     -$                     500,000.00$        -$                     -$                     
Federal -$                     685,800.00$        
State
Local -$                     76,200.00$          
Total -$                     -$                     -$                     762,000.00$        -$                     
Federal 366,750.00$        
State
Local 40,750.00$          
Total -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     407,500.00$        
Federal -$                     240,750.00$        1,011,285.00$     685,800.00$        366,750.00$        
State -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     
Local -$                     26,750.00$          112,365.00$        76,200.00$          40,750.00$          
Total -$                     267,500.00$        1,123,650.00$     762,000.00$        407,500.00$        

Five - Year Capital Improvement

Program (CIP)

Hays Regional Airport 785-628-7350

TOTALS

November 30, 2016

Acquire New Equipment: Loader

Rehabilitate Apron 
(Drainage Improvements)

Reconstruct Taxiway M (Design)

Land Acquisition 
(East, 126 Acres)

Runway 4-22 Lighting Upgrade

1 of 1 11/30/2016

89



DRAFT 2017 Budget - City of Hays

DEPARTMENT PROJECT Prior to 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 CITY SHARE CITY SOURCE OUTSIDE SHARE OUTSIDE SOURCE GRAND TOTAL
Airport

Snow Removal Equipment - Rotory broom 17,336$                 17,336$                               New Equip Reserve 156,024$                             FAA 90% 173,360$                    
Wildlife Fence 200,000$               200,000$                             PFC/Airport Imp 1,800,000$                          FAA 90% 2,000,000$                 
Snow Removal Equipment - Loader 25,000$                 25,000$                               New Equip Reserve 225,000$                             FAA 90% 250,000$                    
Reconstruct Taxiway I 56,000$                  56,000$                               PFC/Airport Imp 504,000$                             FAA 90% 560,000$                    
Apron Drainage Improvements 52,500$                  52,500$                               PFC/Airport Imp 472,500$                             FAA 90% 525,000$                    
Parking Lot Improvements 13,300$                 13,300$                               PFC/Airport Imp 119,700$                             FAA 90% 133,000$                    
Reconstruct Taxiway M (Design only) 36,500$                 36,500$                               PFC/Airport Imp 328,500$                             FAA 90% 365,000$                    

Airport Yearly Subtotal: 17,336$                 200,000$               25,000$                 56,000$                  52,500$                  49,800$                 400,636$                             3,605,724$                          4,006,360$                 

Priority Airport Queue City Share Total Airport Project Queue City Share Total
Land Acquisition 50,000$                 500,000$                FAA 90% Parallel Taxiway 4-22 430,000$                    4,300,000$                          FAA 90%
Master Plan Update 22,000$                 220,000$                FAA 90% Apron Expansion 80,000$                      800,000$                             FAA 90%
Reconstruct Taxiway M (construction) 402,000$               4,020,000$             FAA 90% Extend Runway 16-34 130,000$                    1,300,000$                          FAA 90%
Runway 4-22 Lighting upgrade 69,000$                 690,000$                FAA 90% Snow Removal Equipment Building 110,000$                    1,100,000$                          FAA 90%

543,000$               5,430,000$             750,000$                    7,500,000$                          
Parks

Seven Hills Restroom 56,000$                 56,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 56,000$                      
Aubel Bickle Park Shelterhouse 26,000$                 26,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 26,000$                      
Aubel Bickle Restroom 50,000$                 50,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 50,000$                      
Parks Sidewalks 40,000$                 40,000$                  40,000$                 120,000$                             Special Parks and Rec 120,000$                    
Arnold Park 30,000$                 30,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 30,000$                      
Skatepark Obstacles 30,000$                 30,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 30,000$                      
Aquatic Park Slide 100,000$               100,000$                             Special Parks and Rec 100,000$                    
Sports Complex Play Unit 100,000$               100,000$                             Special Parks and Rec 100,000$                    
Hickok Park Restroom 61,000$                  61,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 61,000$                      
Rolling Hills Playground 63,000$                  63,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 63,000$                      
Rolling Hills Restroom 63,000$                  63,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 63,000$                      
Dan Rupp Restroom 63,000$                 63,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 63,000$                      
Ekey Park Restroom 63,000$                 63,000$                               Special Parks and Rec 63,000$                      

Parks Yearly Subtotal: -$                           172,000$               260,000$               164,000$                63,000$                  166,000$               825,000$                             -$                                        825,000$                    

Priority Parks Project Queue Total Parks Project Queue Total
UP Plaza - Path from Elm to Main Street (Bare Bones) 260,000$                Arnold Park Improvements 200,000$                             
UP Plaza - Path from Elm to Main Street (Full Plan) 450,000$               

710,000$                200,000$                             

Capital Improvement Plan

Page 1 of 3 June 30, 2016

90

johnbraun
Line

johnbraun
Line

johnbraun
Typewritten Text

johnbraun
Typewritten Text
2017 BUDGET CIP

johnbraun
Typewritten Text



RESERVES 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Beginning Balance 69,126$         137,673$     255,082$      154,534$     240,708$     321,832$     285,313$     285,313$     279,443$     
Operational Transfer to Reserve 128,790$       94,608$       114,356$      41,174$       36,124$       30,846$       25,330$       25,330$       19,570$       
Revenue PFC 27,000$         36,000$       45,000$        45,000$       45,000$       45,000$      45,000$      45,000$      45,000$      589,734$        PFC Eligible Projects

AVAILABLE RESERVES 224,916$       268,281$     414,438$      240,708$     321,832$     397,678$     355,643$     355,643$     344,013$     98,289$           Average PFC Eligible Project Cost per yr

PROJECT  2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 CITY SHARE CITY SOURCE OUTSIDE SHARE OUTSIDE SOURCE GRAND TOTAL
RNWY 4-22 Rehab 87,243$         87,243$           PFC/Airport Imp 785,186$                FAA 90% 872,429$            
Fuel System 13,199$       13,199$           Airport Imp -$                        FAA 0% 13,199$              
Snow Removal Equipment 17,336$       17,336$           New Equip Reserve 156,024$                FAA 90% 173,360$            
Wildlife Fence 200,000$      200,000$         PFC/Airport Imp 1,800,000$             FAA 90% 2,000,000$         
Reconstruct Taxiway I 59,904$        59,904$           PFC/Airport Imp 539,136$                FAA 90% 599,040$            
Replace Loader 26,750$       26,750$           New Equip Reserve 240,750$                FAA 90% 267,500$            
Apron Drainage Improvements 62,365$       62,365$           PFC/Airport Imp 561,285$                FAA 90% 623,650$            
Land Acquisition 50,000$       50,000$           PFC/Airport Imp 450,000$                FAA 90% 500,000$            
Runway 4-22 Lighting 76,200$       76,200$           PFC/Airport Imp 685,800$                FAA 90% 762,000$            
Rehabilitate Taxiway M (Design only) 40,750$       40,750$           PFC/Airport Imp 366,750$                FAA 90% 407,500$            
Parking Lot Improvements 13,272$       13,272$          PFC/Airport Imp 119,444$                FAA 90% 132,715$           

PROJECT SUBTOTAL  87,243$         13,199$       259,904$      -$             -$             112,365$     76,200$       40,750$       13,272$       647,019$         5,704,375$             6,351,393$         

CARRY OVER 137,673$       255,082$     154,534$      240,708$     321,832$     285,313$     279,443$     314,893$     330,742$     

 

CITY SHARE TOTAL

458,398$      4,583,980$  
Master Plan Update (2025) 22,000$        220,000$     

81,704$        817,042$     
32,500$        325,000$     

594,602$      5,946,022$  TOTAL  

AIRPORT

Updated November 30, 2016 JRB

*Projects may move based on FAA prioritization.
-PFC can be carried over for 2 years but only eligible for PFC approved projects.  Operating 
 Transfer would offset monies PFC could not cover.

Apron Rehab (2026)
Design Parallel Taxiway for 4-22 (2027)

PRIORITY AIRPORT QUEUE

Reconstruct Taxiway M (2024)

johnbraun:

Per 1/15/16 e-mail from 

Kim Rupp.

John Braun:

Funded out of New 

Equipment Reserve.  Not 

included in totals.  JRB

John Braun:

Fund out of New 

Equipment Reserve.  Not 

included in totals.  JRB

91

johnbraun
Typewritten Text

johnbraun
Typewritten Text
RUNNING CIP

johnbraun
Typewritten Text



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Airport Wildlife Fence 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2017  
 
PROJECT NO: 2016-14  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Design and construct a wildlife exclusion device to deter large mammals from the airport 
property.  The FAA recommends a 10-foot tall chain-link fence with an additional 1-foot tall outward angled 3-strand 
barbed wire outrigger.  Additionally, it is recommended to have 3-foot buried skirting to deter digging under by coyotes, 
badgers and foxes. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: This project would create a safer environment for pilots, patrons and airport staff.  
The justification for the fence is based on observation of deer by FAA safety inspectors and a subsequent Wildlife Hazard 
Assessment performed by USDA Wildlife Services.  The presence of large mammals such as deer, coyotes, badgers, and 
stray dogs occur randomly and currently cannot be controlled.  This creates an unsafe condition. 
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  The FAA has required the fence to be 
constructed in 2017.  Failure to accomplish this project would adversely affect the airport’s 14 CFR Part 139 operating 
certificate, and potentially impact the ability to provide commercial air service. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This was discussed at a 
City Commission work session on December 17, 2015, where staff presented the annual Airport Capital Improvement 
Plan submitted to the FAA. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$200,000 to be paid out of the Airport Improvement Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
Airport Improvement Fund to cover the City share of FAA projects.  While the wildlife fence would not have an immediate 
impact on the operating budget; however, having a $2,000,000 fence does create a future maintenance/replacement 
liability. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   The typical timeline for FAA would be programming in fall 2016, design during the 
winter (2016/2017), bidding in early spring 2017, award a grant in May/June 2017, and construction in late 2017 or early 
2018. 
 
COMMENTS: The FAA grant program is a reimbursement; thus, the City would have to finance the entire cost, and 
submit requests for reimbursement from the FAA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2017 $ Airport Improvement Fund $200,000 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $  $ 
2021 $  $ 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $200,000 

 

92



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Reconstruct Taxiway I 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2017  
 
PROJECT NO: 2016-23  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Reconstruct Taxiway India at the Hays Regional Airport under the FAA Airport Improvement 
program, which allows for reimbursement of 90% of eligible costs. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: Taxiway I at the Hays Regional Airport is the eastern most taxiway running north and 
south in the hangar area connecting adjacent taxiways D thru G.  It is the last of the old asphalt taxiways.  All the other 
taxiways on the airport have either been built new or reconstructed to concrete.  Taxiway I has severe drainage problems 
with a week subgrade.  The asphalt is failing and requires continual maintenance to prevent pot holing and FOD (foreign 
object debris) development. 
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  The continued deterioration of this old asphalt 
taxiway creates a safety hazard for aircraft using it, and creates a maintenance liability for airport operations and budget. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This project was 
previously listed in the CIP for 2019, but accelerated to 2017 at the request of the FAA as discussed at the October 20, 
2016 City Commission Work Session. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$59,904 to be paid out of the Airport Improvement Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
Airport Improvement Fund to cover the City share of FAA projects.  This project should reduce future costs related to 
pavement maintenance on the taxiway. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This project is currently programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2017.  It is currently under 
design and scheduled to bid in the spring of 2017. 
 
COMMENTS: Total Project Cost estimated to be $599,040 with City share of $59,904. 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2017 $ Airport Improvement Fund $59,904 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $  $ 
2021 $  $ 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $59,904 

 

93



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Airport Loader 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2019  
 
PROJECT NO: TBD  
 
FUND:  New Equipment Reserve   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Acquire new end loader for Hays Regional Airport. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: The 1996 Case 621B loader at the airport is over 20 years old, and the FAA will fund 
90% of the replacement cost.  The airport needs a reliable loader to perform many snow removal functions as well as 
other operational activities throughout the year.   
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  The loader is the prime mover at the airport for 
the plow blade, snow blower, and tow broom.  Failure to have a reliable piece of equipment to clear snow from the airfield 
could adversely affect the airport’s ability to support commercial air service and remain compliant with 14 CFR Part 139 
operating certificate. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This has been on the 
Airport CIP for several years. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$26,750 to be paid out of the New Equipment Reserve Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
New Equipment Reserve Fund to cover the eventual replacement of equipment.  Routine maintenance costs come out of 
the Fleet Budget. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This would be programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2019. 
 
COMMENTS: The existing loader is still in fairly good condition and would be kept as a backup and able to be used 
elsewhere in the City as needed.  Total Cost $267,500.  City Share = $26,750. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2017 $  $ 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $ New Equipment Reserve Fund $26,750 
2020 $  $ 
2021 $  $ 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $26,750 

 

94



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Apron Drainage Improvements 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2020  
 
PROJECT NO: TBD  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Remove and replace isolated panels within the existing apron, and install trench drain within 
the limits of the apron area 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: As part of the Airport’s pavement maintenance program, the improvements are 
necessary to eliminate standing water on the apron, which causes problems particularly during freezing weather.  The 
trench drain will enhance positive movement of stormwater runoff and eliminate the need for a full apron reconstruction 
project. 
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  This project will enhance safety and eliminate 
the potential for ponding water.  Delaying this project will allow the continuation of a safety concern and accelerate the 
deterioration of the apron pavement. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This has been in the CIP 
for several years. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$62,365 to be paid out of the Airport Improvement Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
Airport Improvement Fund to cover the City share of FAA projects.  This project should reduce future costs related to 
pavement maintenance on the apron. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This project would be programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2020.   
 
COMMENTS: Estimated Total Project Cost = $623,650.  City Share = $62,365 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2017 $  $ 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $ Airport Improvement Fund $62,365 
2021 $  $ 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $62,365 

 

95



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Land Acquisition 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2020  
 
PROJECT NO: TBD  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Consider the acquisition of land adjacent to the airport for future expansion of the airport 
operations. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: Acquisition of land would satisfy the FAA requirement to acquire additional Runway 
Safety Area, and allow for the expansion of the general aviation hangar area in accordance with the Airport Master Plan. 
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  The timing of this project would align with 
adjacent property owner’s desire to sell property. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This project has been in 
the CIP queue for several years. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA would reimburse 90% of eligible acquisition costs.  
While $500,000 is being programmed ($50,000 City Share), the actual cost of the acquisition is yet to be determined and 
would be based on fair market value appraisal of any property to be acquired.   
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This project would be programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2020.  However, it could be 
accelerated or delayed based on acquisition timing. 
 
COMMENTS: FAA reimbursement would be in the Federal Fiscal Year following acquisition; therefore, the City would 
need to temporarily finance the full cost of acquisition until reimbursement from the FAA. 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2017 $  $ 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $ Airport Improvement Fund $50,000 
2021 $  $ 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $50,000 

 

96



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Crosswind Runway Lighting Upgrade 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2021  
 
PROJECT NO: TBD  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Upgrade the crosswind runway lighting at the Hays Regional Airport under the FAA Airport 
Improvement program, which allows for reimbursement of 90% of eligible costs. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: • The crosswind runway (RNWY 4-22) lighting is direct bury and subject to 
damage from burrowing animals, natural corrosion, and accidental damage.  Installing new cabling in conduit with light 
base cans will prevent unpredictable outages and difficult trouble shooting.  The old light fixtures would also be upgraded 
to new, more energy efficient lights that would result in reduced electrical utility costs. 
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  By the 2021 program date, the current 
crosswind lighting will be past its life expectancy and upgrade will be imminent.  
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This project is listed in the 
CIP queue. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$76,200 to be paid out of the Airport Improvement Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
Airport Improvement Fund to cover the City share of FAA projects.  This project should reduce future costs related to 
lighting maintenance and assure the safe operation of the crosswind runway. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This project would be programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2021. 
 
COMMENTS: Total Project Cost estimated to be $762,000 with City share of $76,200. 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2017 $  $ 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $  $ 
2021 $ Airport Improvement Fund $76,200 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $76,200 

 

97



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Rehabilitate Taxiway Mike (Design) 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2022  
 
PROJECT NO: TBD  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Rehabilitate Taxiway Mike at the Hays Regional Airport under the FAA Airport Improvement 
program, which allows for reimbursement of 90% of eligible costs. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: Taxiway M runs parallel to the main runway.  The project would involve making 
repairs to failed areas of the taxiway and widening turning radii at intersections to better accommodate larger aircraft.   
  
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT:  The CRJ-200 jet used by SkyWest to provide 
commercial service to Hays Regional Airport is almost too large for the existing taxiway width, particularly when making 
turns.  Widening Taxiway Mike would provide an extra margin for error and reduce the chances of dropping a wheel off 
the pavement edge.  Also, by the program year of 2024, the concrete pavement will need significant rehabilitation. 
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This project is listed in the 
current CIP. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$40,750 to be paid out of the Airport Improvement Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
Airport Improvement Fund to cover the City share of FAA projects.  This project should reduce future costs related to 
pavement maintenance on taxiway Mike. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This project would be programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2022. 
 
COMMENTS: Design Costs are estimated to be $407,500 with City share $40,750. 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2018 $  $ 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $  $ 
2021 $  $ 
2022 $ Airport Improvement Fund $40,750 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $40,750 

 

98



  

LOCATION & AREA MAP: 

PROJECT FORM 
 

 
 
PROJECT:  Airport Parking Lot 
 
FISCAL YEAR: 2023  
 
PROJECT NO: TBD  
 
FUND:  Airport Improvement Fund   
 
DEPARTMENT: Public Works – Airport   
 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Rehabilitate and expand the public parking lot at the Hays Regional Airport under the FAA 
Airport Improvement program, which allows for reimbursement of 90% of eligible costs. 
  
NEED, JUSTIFICATION, BENEFIT: As boardings increase at the Hays Regional Airport, it will be necessary to increase 
capacity by adding additional spaces.  This can be accomplished by paving the existing gravel long-term parking lot.   
 
CONSEQUENCES OF DELAYING OR ELIMINATING THIS PROJECT: By the time this project is programmed in 2023, 
rehabilitation of the existing parking lot pavement will be necessary.   
 
THIS PROJECT IS RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING:  Airport Capital Improvement Program.  This project is listed in the 
current CIP. 
 
EXPLANATION OF IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET:  The FAA covers 90% of the project leaving the City share at 
$13,272 to be paid out of the Airport Improvement Fund.  The Airport Operating Budget makes annual transfers to the 
Airport Improvement Fund to cover the City share of FAA projects.  This project should reduce future costs related to 
pavement maintenance in the parking lot. 
 
TIMELINE/CURRENT STATUS:   This project would be programmed for Federal Fiscal Year 2023. 
 
COMMENTS: Total project costs are estimated to be $132,715 with City share $13,272.  This project is a low priority for 
FAA, so if demand requires the expansion of parking sooner than 2023, work may be accomplished by the Service 
Division outside of the FAA Airport Improvement Program. 
 
 
 
 
 

IMPACT ON OPERATING BUDGET: FINANCING: 
2019 $  $ 
2020 $  $ 
2021 $  $ 
2022 $  $ 
2023 $ Airport Improvement Fund $13,272 
5-YEAR TOTAL: $  $13,272 

 

99



100



Commission Work Session Agenda 
Memo  

From: Brenda Kitchen, City Clerk 

Work Session: December 15, 2016 

Subject: 2016 Boundary Resolution 

Person(s) Responsible:  Kim Rupp, Finance Director 

Summary
One piece of property was annexed into the City since the last boundary Resolution was 
passed on December 22, 2015. The City Commission is asked to approve a Resolution re-
defining the boundaries or corporate limits of the City of Hays, Kansas. 

Background 
Kansas statutes require cities to pass a resolution re-defining the entire boundary line of 
the City whenever property is annexed into the city limits during a calendar year. A 
certified copy of the resolution is filed with the county clerk, the register of deeds, and 
the state transportation engineer. 

Discussion 
The following ordinance annexed property into the city limits in 2016: 
Ordinance No. 3922 – 3 lots in Heart of America Second Addition – generally located at 
Commerce Parkway and East 9th Street. 

City Attorney John Bird will prepare a new resolution re-defining the city limits and it 
will be presented to the Commission for approval at the December 22, 2016 Commission 
meeting. 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City staff. 

Financial Consideration 
There are no known financial considerations for this item. 

Options
The City Commission has the following options: 

• Option 1. Approve the resolution re-defining the boundaries or corporate limits of
the City of Hays, Kansas.

• Option 2. Not approve the resolution re-defining the boundaries or corporate
limits of the City of Hays, Kansas.

101



 
Recommendation 

Staff recommends approval of a Resolution which re-defines the boundaries or corporate 
limits of the City of Hays, Kansas 
 

Action Requested 
Approve a Resolution which re-defines the boundaries or corporate limits of the City of 
Hays, Kansas. 
 

Supporting Documentation 
City map showing annexed areas 
Resolution 
Ordinance No. 3922 

102



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION RE-DEFINING THE BOUNDARIES OR 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS, AS 
REQUIRED BY SECTION 12-517 OF KANSAS STATUTES 
ANNOTATED. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Hays, Kansas has added territory to said City; and 
 

WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-517 requires the City of Hays, Kansas, to declare by resolution the 
entire boundary of the City; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF HAYS, KANSAS: 
 

The boundary of the city is hereby fixed and defined as follows: 
 

Beginning at a point 1,090.73 feet East and 235.00 feet North of the 
Southwest Corner of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) of Section 27, 
Township 13 South, Range 18 West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, 
said point being on the East line of the Mart City First Addition to the 
City of Hays and 235.00 feet North of the Southeast Corner of said 
Mart City First Addition; 
 
THENCE Northerly along the East line of said Mart City First 
Addition extended to the Southerly right of way line of Interstate 70, 
a distance of 1,078.05 feet; THENCE with an angle of 66 degrees 33 
minutes 55 seconds to the left, along the South right of way line of 
Interstate 70, a distance of 28.75 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90 
degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds to the right a distance of 240.00 feet to 
a point on the Northerly right of way line of Interstate 70; THENCE 
with an angle of 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds to the  right along 
the North right of way line of Interstate 70 a distance of 648.35 feet; 
THENCE with an angle of 119 degrees 44 minutes 30 seconds to the 
left, along a line perpendicular to the north line of the Northwest 
Quarter of Section 27, Township 13 South, Range 18 West, a distance 
of 1,417.67 feet to a point that is 50.00 feet south of the north line of 
Section 27; thence on an assumed bearing of South 89 degrees 10 
minutes 14 seconds East, along a line parallel with and 50.00 feet 
south of the north line of the Northwest Quarter of Section 27, a 
distance of 926.15 feet to a point on the east line of said Northwest 
Quarter; thence South 89 degrees 09 minutes 58 seconds East, along a 
line that is parallel with and 50.00 feet south of the north line of the  

103



Northeast Quarter of Section 27, a distance of 2,575.37 feet; thence 
South 43 degrees 50 minutes 00 seconds East a distance of 28.12 feet; 
thence South 01 degrees 29 minutes 58 seconds West, parallel with 
and 50.00 feet west of the east line of said Section 27, a distance of 
13.00 feet; thence South 89 degrees 09 minutes 58 seconds East a 
distance of 50.00 feet to a point on the east line of said Section 27, 
said point being 83.00 feet south of the northeast corner of Section 
27; thence South 89 degrees 00 minutes 19 seconds East a distance of 
50.00 feet; thence North 01 degrees 29 minutes 58 seconds East, 
parallel with and 50.00 feet east of the west line of the Northwest 
Quarter of Section 26, Township 13 South Range 18 West, a distance 
of 13.00 feet; thence North 46 degrees 14 minutes 49 seconds East a 
distance of 28.41 feet; thence South 89 degrees 00 minutes 19 
seconds East, parallel with and 50.00 feet south of the north line of 
said Section 26, a distance of 71.00 feet; thence North 01 degrees 29 
minutes 58 seconds East a distance of 50.00 feet to a point on the 
north line of said Section 26, said point being 141.01 feet east of the 
northwest corner of said Section 26; thence North 01 degrees 31 
minutes 11 seconds East a distance of 50.00 feet; thence North 89 
degrees 00 minutes 19 seconds West, parallel with and 50.00 feet 
north of the south line of the Southwest Quarter of Section 23, 
Township 13 South Range 18 West, a distance of 70.00 feet; thence 
North 43 degrees 44 minutes 34 seconds West a distance of 28.15 
feet; thence North 01 degrees 31 minutes 11 seconds East, parallel 
with and 50.00 feet east of the west line of said Section 23, a distance 
of 6.50 feet; thence North 89 degrees 00 minutes 19 seconds West a 
distance of 50.00 feet to a point on the west line of said Section 23, 
said point being 76.50 feet north of the southwest corner of said 
Section 23; thence North 89 degrees 09 minutes 58 seconds West a 
distance of 50.00 feet; thence South 01 degrees 31 minutes 11 
seconds West, parallel with and 50.00 feet west of the east line of the 
Southeast Quarter of Section 22, Township 13 South, Range 18 West, 
a distance of 6.50 feet; thence South 46 degrees 10 minutes 36 
seconds West a distance of 28.45 feet; thence North 89 degrees 09 
minutes 58 seconds West, parallel with and 50.00 feet north of the 
south line of said Southeast Quarter, a distance of 2550.15 feet; 
thence North 43 degrees 46 minutes 09 seconds West a distance of 
35.11 feet to a point on the west line of said Southeast Quarter, said 
point being 75.00 feet north of the southwest corner of said Southeast 
Quarter; thence North 01 degrees 38 minutes 27 seconds East, along 
the east line of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 22, a distance of 
29.01 feet; thence North 89 degrees 10 minutes 14 seconds West a 
distance of 35.00 feet; thence South 01 degrees 38 minutes 27 
seconds West, parallel with and 35.00 feet west of the east line of said 
Southwest Quarter, a distance of 29.01 feet; thence South 46 degrees  

104



14 minutes 07 seconds West a distance of 35.60 feet; thence North 89 
degrees 10 minutes 14 seconds West, parallel with and 50.00 feet 
north of the south line of said Southwest Quarter, a distance of 867.55 
feet to the southeast corner of Block 1 of Vernie’s Addition to Ellis 
County; THENCE South 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 seconds West, 
along the South line of said Block 1 of Vernie’s Addition, a distance 
of 315.50 feet to a point on the East right of way line of Sherman 
Avenue; THENCE North 00 degrees 47 minutes 45 seconds West, 
along said East right of way line, a distance of 664.93 feet to the 
intersection of said East right of way line with the North right of way 
line of 43rd Street; THENCE South 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 
seconds West, along the North right of way line of 43rd Street, a 
distance of  571.18 feet to a point on the south line and 71.00 feet east 
of the southwest comer of Lot 2, in Block 2 of the Marvin F. Braun 
Addition to Hays-Ellis County, Kansas; THENCE on a bearing of 
North, parallel with the west line of said Lot 2, a distance of 240.00 
feet to a point on the south line of Lot 4, in Block 2 of said Addition; 
THENCE South 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 seconds West, along the 
south line of said Lot 4, a distance of 200.15 feet to a point on the 
East right of way line of General Hays Road; THENCE on a bearing 
of North, along said East right of way line, a distance of 674.60 feet 
to the Northwest corner of Lot 6 in Block 2 of the Marvin F. Braun 
Addition to Hays-Ellis County, Kansas; THENCE North 89 degrees 
12 minutes 15 seconds East, along the North line of said Lot 6, a 
distance of 403.85 feet to the Northeast corner of said Lot 6; 
THENCE on a bearing of North a distance of 715.94 feet; THENCE 
North 00 degrees 01 minutes 39 seconds East a distance of 350.51 
feet to the Southeast corner of Lot 6 in Block 3 of the North Hays 
Addition to Ellis County, Kansas; THENCE North 00 degrees 03 
minutes 50 seconds East, along the East line of said Lot 6, a distance 
of 300.00 feet to the Northeast corner of said Lot 6; THENCE North 
89 degrees 58 minutes 10 seconds West, along the north line of Lots 5 
and 6 in Block 3 of the North Hays Addition to Ellis County, Kansas, 
a distance of 393.85 feet to a point on the East right of way line of 
General Hays Road; THENCE North 00 degrees 03 minutes 50 
seconds East, along said East right of way line, a distance of 989.91 
feet;  THENCE on a curve to the left, an arc distance of 333.80 feet, 
said curve having a radius of 835.00 feet, a central angle of 22 
degrees 54 minutes 15.45 seconds, a chord bearing of North 11 
degrees 23 minutes 18 seconds West, and a chord length of 331.58 
feet; THENCE on a curve to the right, an arc distance of 305.81 feet, 
said curve having a radius of 765.00 feet, a central angle of 22 
degrees 54 minutes 15.45 seconds, a chord bearing of North 11 
degrees 23 minutes 18 seconds West, and a chord length of 303.78 
feet; THENCE North 00 degrees 03 minutes 50 seconds East a 
distance of 618.95 feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 10 minutes 42 

105

http://of989.91
http://of989.91


seconds East, along a line parallel with and 50.00 feet South of the 
North line of Section 22. Township 13 South, Range 18 West, 
adistance of 155.71 feet THENCE North 00 degrees 49 minutes 18 
seconds West a distance of 50.00 feet to a point on the North line of 
said Section 22; THENCE continuing North 00 degrees 49 minutes 
18 seconds West a distance of 40.00 feet; THENCE South 89 degrees 
10 minutes 42 seconds West a distance of 349.06 feet; THENCE 
South 00 degrees 03 minutes 30 seconds East a distance of 10.00 feet; 
THENCE South 89 degrees 10 minutes 42 seconds West a distance of 
179.03 feet to a point on the East right of way line of U.S. Highway 
183; THENCE North 78 degrees 01 minutes 01 seconds West along 
said East right of way line, a distance of 113.87 feet; thence North 00 
degrees 03 minutes 39 seconds West, along the east right of way line 
of Highway 183, a distance of 1519.42 feet; thence North 27 degrees 
26 minutes 16 seconds East a distance of 129.58 feet; thence North 00 
degrees 09 minutes 51 seconds West a distance of 147.64 feet; thence 
North 27 degrees 29 minutes 56 seconds West a distance of 129.26 
feet; thence North 00 degrees 03 minutes 39 seconds West, along the 
east right of way line of Highway 183, a distance of 157.48 feet; 
thence South 89 degrees 50 minutes 09 seconds West a distance of 
30.00 feet to a point on the west line of the Southwest Quarter of 
Section 15, Township 13 South, Range 18 West; THENCE South 89 
degrees 50 minutes 09 seconds West a distance of 190.41 feet to a 
point on the West right of way line of U.S. Highway 183; THENCE 
South 00 degrees 08 minutes 59 seconds East, along said right of 
way, a distance of 2062.60 feet to the intersection of said West right 
of way with the North right of way of 55th Street; THENCE South 88 
degrees 58 minutes 17 seconds West, along said north right of way, a 
distance of 445.08 feet; THENCE South 00 degrees 04 minutes 27 
seconds East a distance of 50.01 feet to the intersection of the North 
line of Section 21, Township 13 South, Range 18 West, and the West 
right of way of Roth Avenue extended; THENCE continuing South 
00 degrees 04 minutes 27 seconds East a distance of 50.01 feet to a 
point on the South right of way line of 55th Street; THENCE North 
88 degrees 58 minutes 17 seconds East, along said South right of 
way, a distance of 1.69 feet; THENCE South 01 degrees 01 minutes 
43 seconds East a distance of 47.00 feet; THENCE South 88 degrees 
58 minutes 17 seconds West a distance of 2.47 feet; THENCE South 
00 degrees 04 minutes 27 seconds East, along the West right of way 
of Roth Avenue, a distance of 2504.08 feet to a point on the North 
right of way line of 48th Street; THENCE continuing on the last 
described course a distance of 40.01 feet to a point on the north line 
of the Southeast Quarter of Section 21, Township 13 South, Range 18 
West; THENCE westerly along said north line, a distance of 2,000.52 
feet to the Northwest corner of said Southeast Quarter; THENCE 
southerly along the West Line of said Southeast Quarter a distance of 

106



897.20 feet to a point on the North right of way line of 45th Street 
extended; THENCE  easterly along said extended right of way line, 
said line also being the south line of the Roth 5th Addition to Ellis 
County, a distance of 1325.90 feet to the Northwest corner of the 
Roth Third Addition to the City of Hays; THENCE southerly along 
the west line of said Roth Third Addition, a distance of 1,391.52 feet; 
THENCE with an angle to the left of 60 degrees 47 minutes, a 
distance of 40.62 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90 degrees 00 
minutes 00 seconds to the right a distance of 235.00 feet; THENCE 
with an angle of 143 degrees 40 minutes 05 seconds to the left a 
distance of 19.65 feet; THENCE with an angle of 53 degrees 41 
minutes 19 seconds to the right a distance of 625.80 feet; THENCE 
with an angle of 15 degrees 12 minutes 41 seconds to the right a 
distance of 895.48 feet; THENCE with an angle of 22 degrees 02 
minutes 09 seconds to the right a distance of 212.11 feet; THENCE 
with an angle of 86 degrees 58 minutes 22 seconds to the right a 
distance of 59.20 feet to the intersection of the south right-of-way line 
of Interstate 70 Highway and the west right-of-way line of U.S. 183 
Highway; THENCE northwesterly along the south right-of-way line 
of Interstate 70 Highway, approximately 720 feet; THENCE southerly 
408.46 feet to a point 622 feet west of the east line of Section 28; 
THENCE with an angle of 90N20'10" to the right, a distance of 
1,992.73 feet; THENCE with an angle of 91N10'06" to the right, a 
distance of 1,012.75 feet to the northeast corner of the Northwest 
Quarter (NW/4) of Section 28; THENCE with an angle of 90N55'20" 
to the left along said north line, a distance of 2,630.14 feet to the 
Southeast Corner of Section Twenty (20); THENCE North along the 
East line of  Section 20 a distance of 50.00 feet; THENCE West on a 
line 50.00 feet North of and parallel with the South line of said 
Section 20 a distance of 663.76 feet to the Southeast corner of the 
Golden Belt Estates First Addition to the City of Hays, Kansas; 
THENCE North 01 degrees 09 minutes 42 seconds East along the 
East line of said Addition a distance of 610.51 feet; THENCE North 
89 degrees 58 minutes 38 seconds East a distance of 664.19 feet to a 
point on the East line of said Section 20, said point being 660.79 feet 
North of the Southeast corner of said Section 20; THENCE North 01 
degrees 12 minutes 03 seconds East, along the East line of said 
Section 20 a distance of 354.98 feet to a point on the South right of 
way line of Interstate 70; THENCE North 88 degrees 47 minutes 57 
seconds West along said Interstate70 right of way, a distance of 33.00 
feet; thence North 06 degrees 21 minutes 57 seconds West, along said 
Interstate 70 right of way, a distance of 1,053.16 feet; THENCE 
North 65 degrees 13 minutes 54 seconds West, along said South right 
of way line, a distance of  1,264.41 feet to the Northwest corner of the 
Golden Belt Estates Third Addition; THENCE continuing North 65 
degrees 13 minutes 54 seconds West, along the south right of way 

107



line of Interstate 70, a distance of 113.65 feet to a point on the north 
line of the Southeast Quarter of said Section 20; THENCE North 68 
degrees 03 minutes 03 seconds West, along the south right of way 
line of Interstate 70, a distance of 1,313.65 feet to a point on the west 
line of the Northeast Quarter of said Section 20; THENCE South 00 
degrees 59 minutes 33 seconds West, along said west line, a distance 
of 493.00 feet to the Northwest Corner of the Southeast Quarter (SE 
1/4) of said Section 20; THENCE on a bearing of South 01 degrees 
02 minutes 46 seconds West along the West line of the Southeast 
Quarter (SE 1/4) of said Section 20 a distance of 1,695.17 feet to the 
Northeast corner of the King’s Gate First Addition; THENCE North 
89 degrees 58 minutes 07 seconds West along the North line of the 
King’s Gate First Addition, a distance of 985.34 feet; THENCE with 
an angle of 41 degrees 32 minutes 00 seconds to the left a distance of 
424.09 feet; THENCE with an angle of 47 degrees 35 minutes 30 
seconds to the left a distance of 579.34 feet; THENCE West (33.00 
feet North of and parallel with the South line of said Southwest 
quarter of Section 20) a distance of 1042.35 feet; THENCE North a 
distance of 27.00 feet; THENCE westerly a distance of 257.90 feet to 
a point 64.88 feet North of the South line of said Southwest quarter; 
THENCE South 64.88 feet to a point 53.55 feet East of the Southwest 
corner of said Southwest Quarter and on the South line of said 
Southwest Quarter of Section 20; THENCE on an assumed bearing of 
North 88 degrees 42 minutes 49 seconds East along the North line of 
the Northwest quarter of Section 29, Township 13 South; Range 18 
West a distance of 385.95 feet; THENCE on a bearing of South 00 
degrees 14 minutes 26 seconds East a distance of 50.00 feet to the 
South right of way line of 41st Street and the Northwest Corner of Lot 
5, Block 1 of the Second Replat of a Portion of Westridge Addition to 
Ellis County, Kansas; THENCE continuing on the last described 
course along the West line of Lots 4 and 5, Block 1 of said addition a 
distance of 610.01 feet to the Southwest Corner of Lot 4, Block 1 of 
said addition; THENCE on a bearing of South 88 degrees 42 minutes 
55 seconds West along the North line of Lot 2, Block 1 of said 
addition, a distance of 45.35 feet to the Northwest Corner of said Lot 
2; THENCE on a bearing of South 01 degrees 15 minutes 57 seconds 
East along the West line of said Lot 2 a distance of 290.90 feet to the 
North right of way line of 38th Street; THENCE on a bearing of 
North 88 degrees 42 minutes 49 seconds East along the North line of 
said 38th Street a distance of 9.91 feet; THENCE on a curve to the 
right having a radius of 50.00 feet,  a chord bearing of South 75 
degrees 31 minutes 06 seconds East, a chord length of 93.29 feet, an 
arc length of 120.25 feet to the South line of Lot 2, Block 1 of said 
addition; THENCE on a bearing of North 88 degrees 42 minutes 50 
seconds East along the South line of Lot 2, Block 1 of said addition a  

108



distance of 230.00 feet to the West line of Lot 2, Block 2 of said 
addition; THENCE on a bearing of South 00 degrees 14 minutes 26 
seconds East along the West line of Lot 2 and 3, Block 2 of said 
addition a distance of 312.39 feet to the North right of way line of 
37th Street and the Southwest Corner of Lot 3, Block 2 of said 
addition; THENCE continuing on the last described course a distance 
of 30.00 feet to a point on the East-West sixteenth line of the 
Northwest Quarter of Section 29, township 13 South, Range 18 West; 
THENCE West along said sixteenth line a distance of 281.41 feet; 
thence South, parallel with the West line of said Northwest Quarter, a 
distance of 1,318.44 feet to a point on the South line of said 
Northwest Quarter, said point being 445.36 feet East of the Southwest 
corner of said Northwest Quarter;  THENCE West along South line 
of said Northwest Quarter a distance of 131.79 feet to the Northwest 
comer of the DK Ranch Addition to the City of Hays, Kansas; 
THENCE South 00 degrees 35 minutes 28 seconds West a distance of 
316.96 feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 24 minutes 32 seconds West 
a distance of 55.00 feet; THENCE on a curve to the left, an arc 
distance of 142.01 feet, said curve having a radius of 50.00 feet, a 
central angle of 162 degrees 44 minutes 12 seconds, a chord length of 
98.87 feet and a chord bearing of South 09 degrees 13 minutes 22 
seconds West; THENCE on a curve to the left, an arc distance of 
224.31 feet, said curve having a radius of 540.00 feet, a central angle 
of 23 degrees 47 minutes 58 seconds, a chord length of 222.70 feet 
and a chord bearing of South 12 degrees 42 minutes 40 seconds East; 
THENCE South 24 degrees 36 minutes 40 seconds East a distance of 
705.16 feet; THENCE on a curve to the right, an arc distance of 
202.34 feet, said curve having a radius of 460.00 feet, a central angle 
of 25 degrees 12 minutes 08 seconds, a chord length of 200.71 feet 
and a chord bearing of South 12 degrees 00 minutes 36 seconds East; 
THENCE South 00 degrees 35 minutes 28 seconds West a distance of 
365.79 feet; THENCE South 89 degrees 09 minutes 17 seconds West 
a distance of 518.77 feet to a point on the east right of way line of 
U.S. Highway 183 Alternate; THENCE South 00 degrees 50 minutes 
43 seconds East, along said right of way, a distance of 209.59 feet; 
THENCE South 03 degrees 01 minutes 18 seconds East, along said 
right of way, a distance of 123.23 feet; THENCE South 02 degrees 53 
minutes 57 seconds East, along said right of way, a distance of 63.17 
feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 36 minutes 52 seconds East a 
distance of 1,186.31 feet to a point on the east line of the West Half 
of the Southwest Quarter of Section 29, Township 13 South, Range 
18 West; THENCE North 00 degrees 35 minutes 28 seconds East, 
along the east line of said West Half of the Southwest Quarter, a 
distance of 40.17 feet; THENCE on a curve to the left, an arc distance 
of 10.44 feet, said curve having a radius of 525.00 feet, a central 
angle of 01 degrees 08 minutes 20 seconds, a chord length of 10.44 

109



feet and a chord bearing of South 89 degrees 53 minutes 14 seconds 
West; THENCE South 88 degrees 48 minutes 15 seconds West a 
distance of 604.26 feet; THENCE North 00 degrees 35 minutes 28 
seconds East a distance of 554.97 feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 37 
minutes 13 seconds East a distance of 614.49 feet to a point on the 
east line of said West Half of the Southwest Quarter; THENCE North 
00 degrees 35 minutes 28 seconds East, along the east line of said 
West Half of the Southwest Quarter, a distance of 1650.00 feet to the 
northeast corner of said West Half of the Southwest Quarter; thence 
North along the North-South sixteenth line of the Northwest Quarter 
of said Section 20, a distance of 1,288.36 feet to a point on the South 
right of way line of 37th Street; thence East along said right of way 
line a distance of 32.48 feet to the Southeast Corner of said Second 
Replat of a Portion of Westridge Addition; THENCE on a bearing of 
North 00 degrees 14 minutes 26 seconds West along the East line of 
said addition a distance of 1298.40 feet; THENCE East 50.00 feet 
South of and parallel with the North line of the Northwest quarter of 
Section 29, Township 13 South, Range 18 West a distance of 1290.16 
feet to the East line of said Northwest quarter of Section 29; 
THENCE Southerly along the East line of the Northwest quarter of 
said Section 29 a distance of 2586.30 feet to the Southeast corner of 
the Northwest quarter of said Section 29; THENCE west along the 
north line of the Southwest Quarter (SW/4) of Section 29, a distance 
of 1,117.29 feet to the Northeast Corner of Country Club Estates 
Sixth Addition to the City of Hays; THENCE continuing along the 
last described course along the North line of said Country Club 
Estates Sixth Addition a distance of 35.00 feet to the centerline of 
Columbine Drive; THENCE on a bearing of South 00 degrees 00 
minutes 17 seconds West along the centerline of said Columbine 
Drive a distance of 70.00 feet; THENCE on a curve to the left along 
said centerline, having a radius of 300.00 feet, a chord bearing of 
South 15 degrees 59 minutes 10 seconds East, a chord length of 
165.30 feet, an arc distance of 167.47 feet; THENCE on a curve to 
the right along said centerline having a radius of 300.00 feet, a chord 
bearing of South 00 degrees 03 minutes 16 seconds West, a chord 
length of 318.26 feet, an arc distance of 335.47 feet; THENCE on a 
bearing of South 32 degrees 05 minutes 23 seconds West along said 
centerline a distance of 73.79 feet; THENCE on a curve to the left 
along said centerline having a radius of 478.40 feet, a chord bearing 
of South 16 degrees 32 minutes 24 seconds West, a chord length of 
256.49 feet, an arc distance of 259.67 feet; THENCE on a bearing of 
South 00 degrees 59 minutes 22 seconds West along said centerline a 
distance of 1078.73 feet; THENCE on a bearing of South 89 degrees 
00 minutes 38 seconds East a distance of 35.00 feet to the East right 
of way line of said Columbine Drive; THENCE continuing on the last 
described course a distance of 401.70 feet; THENCE with an angle of 

110



56 degrees 08 minutes 37 seconds to the right a distance of 237.37 
feet; THENCE with an angle of 60 degrees 54 minutes 44 seconds to 
the left a distance of 22.88 feet; THENCE with an angle of 29 degrees 
56 minutes 20 seconds to the right a distance of 125.00 feet; 
THENCE with an angle of 90 degrees  00 minutes 00 seconds to the 
right to the initial tangent of a curve to the left having a radius of 
230.00 feet, an arc distance of 104.89 feet; THENCE Southerly 
tangent to said curve a distance of 275.38 feet to the South line of the 
Southwest Quarter (SW 1/4) of Section 29; THENCE with an angle 
of 90 degree  00 minutes 00 seconds to the left along said South line a 
distance of 1559.39 feet to a point 1560.00 feet West of the Northeast 
Corner of Section 32; THENCE southerly, a distance of 
approximately 2,127.50 feet to a point 1,579.00 feet west of the east 
line of Section 32 and 517.00 feet north of the south line of the 
Northeast Quarter (NE/4) of Section 32; THENCE westerly parallel 
with said south line, a distance of 16.00 feet; THENCE south parallel 
with the east line of Section 32, to the northerly line of 13th Street 
extended; THENCE northwesterly along the northerly line of 13th 
Street extended, to intersect the center line of Big Creek; THENCE 
southerly along the center line of Big Creek to the point said center 
line intersects the south line of the Northeast Quarter (NE/4) of 
Section 32; THENCE west along said south line, to the point said 
south line intersects the northerly line of 12th Street extended; 
THENCE Southeasterly along said northerly line to intersect the 
center line of Big Creek; THENCE southerly along the center line of 
Big Creek to the point of intersection of the center line of Big Creek 
and the south right-of-way of the Union Pacific Railroad; THENCE 
on a bearing of North 59 degrees 00 minutes 39 seconds West along 
said South railroad right of way a distance of 450.33 feet; THENCE 
on a bearing of South 40 degrees 04 minutes 21 seconds West a 
distance of 60.76 feet to the South Old Highway 40 permanent 
easement line; THENCE on a bearing of North 59 degrees 00 minutes 
39 seconds West along said South permanent easement line a distance 
of 1190.87 feet to the South Old Highway 40 right -of-way line; 
THENCE on a bearing of North 78 degrees 45 minutes 51 seconds 
West along said Highway right of way line a distance of 160.57 feet; 
THENCE on a bearing of South 82 degrees 45 minutes 43 seconds 
West along said Highway right of way line a distance of 908.23 feet 
to the easterly right of way line of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate; 
THENCE on a bearing of South 19 degrees 23 minutes 51 seconds 
East along the said Easterly highway right of way line a distance of 
470.21 feet; THENCE on a bearing of South 27 degrees 57 minutes 
37 seconds East along said Easterly right of way line a distance of 
4329.40 feet; THENCE on a curve to the left having a radius of 
2799.79 feet, a chord bearing of South 37 degrees 42 minutes 46 
seconds East a chord length of 948.54 feet, an arc distance of 953.14 

111



feet to the Westerly line of the Fort Hays Historical Park; THENCE 
on a bearing of South 36 degrees, 51 minutes 35 seconds West along 
said Westerly line of Fort Hays Historical Park Extended a distance of 
65.31 feet to the centerline of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate; THENCE 
easterly, along said centerline, on a curve to the left, the initial tangent 
of which is at an angle of 84N27'20" to the left of the last described 
course and having a radius of 2,864.93 feet, an arc distance of 
2,251.51 feet; THENCE east along said centerline, a distance of 
2,259.45 feet, to the centerline of Big Creek; THENCE with an angle 
of 78N54'05" to the right along the centerline of Big Creek, a distance 
of 231.87 feet; THENCE with an angle of 10N14'48" to the left, a 
distance of 356.34 feet; THENCE with an angle of 8N59'39" to the 
right, a distance of 355.94 feet; THENCE with an angle of 77N43'02" 
to the left, a distance of 196.32 feet; THENCE with an angle of 
66N31'34" to the left, a distance of 274.93 feet; THENCE with an 
angle of 27N53'22" to the right, a distance of 119.42 feet; THENCE 
with an angle of 36N55'29" to the left, a distance of 180.30 feet; 
THENCE with an angle of 34N16'16" to the right, a distance of 
107.51 feet; THENCE with an angle of 55N33'32" to the right, a 
distance of 131.00 feet, to the intersection of the centerline of Big 
Creek and the centerline of Montgomery Street Drainage Ditch; 
THENCE northerly with an angle of 98N29'47" to the left, a distance 
of 336.07 feet, to the intersection of the centerline of Montgomery 
Street Drainage Ditch and the centerline of U.S. Highway 183 
Alternate; THENCE with an angle of 90N51'44" to the right along the 
centerline of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate, a distance of 100.00 feet; 
THENCE with an angle of 83N54'10" to the left, a distance of 494.84 
feet to the northerly line of the Fort Hays Military Reservation; 
THENCE southeasterly with an angle of 109N51'00" to the right 
along the said Fort Hays Military Reservation line to the intersection 
of said reservation line and the south right-of-way line of U.S. 
Highway 183 Alternate; THENCE easterly along the south right-of-
way line of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate, 942.15 feet; THENCE 
southeasterly, a distance of 108 feet; THENCE east perpendicular to 
the east line of Section 4, a distance of 30 feet; THENCE south along 
the east line of said Section 4, a distance of 361.52 feet to the north 
line of the Fort Hays Military Reservation; THENCE on an assumed 
bearing of South 56 degrees 54 minutes East along the said Fort Hays 
Military Reservation line a distance of 289.58 feet; THENCE South 
34 degrees 18 minutes West a distance of 35.70 feet; THENCE North 
87 degrees 25 minutes West, a distance of 112.00 feet; THENCE 
South 03 degrees 46 minutes East a distance of 784.50 feet along the 
East right of way line of U.S. 183 Highway; THENCE South 08

112



 degrees 07 minutes West, a distance of 600.10 feet along said right 
of way; THENCE South 02 degrees 13 minutes West, a distance of 
987.40 feet along said right of way; THENCE South 87 degrees 47 
minutes East, a distance of 84.30 feet; THENCE on a curve of 
1,241.35 feet radius to the right, an arc distance of 879.00 feet with a 
chord which bears South 67 degrees 30 minutes East, a chord length 
of 860.80 feet; THENCE South 47 degrees 12 minutes East, a 
distance of 104.91 feet; THENCE North 50 degrees 07 minutes East, 
a distance of 110.50 feet; THENCE North 01 degree 46 minutes East, 
a distance of 2,141.30 feet to a point on the Northerly line of the Fort 
Hays Military Reservation; THENCE North 56 degrees 54 minutes 
West, a distance of 816.18 feet; THENCE North parallel with the 
East line of Section 4, Township 14 South, Range 18 West, a distance 
of 32 feet; THENCE southeasterly parallel to the Fort Hays Military 
Reservation line, a distance of 1,981.92 feet to the west edge of 
Chetolah Creek right-of-way; THENCE south, along the west edge of 
Chetolah Creek right-of-way to the center line of Reservation Road; 
THENCE southeasterly along the center line of Reservation Road to 
the center line of Chetolah Creek; THENCE southeasterly on a line 
perpendicular to the center line of Chetolah Creek a distance of 
100.00 feet to a point on the east right-of-way of Chetolah Creek; 
THENCE northeasterly along the east Chetolah Creek right-of-way 
on an assumed bearing of North 41 degrees 40 minutes 00 seconds 
East a distance of 106.00 feet to a point of tangency; THENCE 
continuing along the east right-of-way line of Chetolah Creek on a 
curve to the left having a radius of 1414.1 feet, an arc distance of 
436.73 feet to the intersection of the east right-of-way of Chetolah 
Creek and the east line of the Southeast Quarter of Section 3, 
Township 14 South, Range 18 West; THENCE continuing on the last 
described course along the east right-of-way line of Chetolah Creek 
on an arc distance of 182.94 feet to the Southwest corner of Lot 2, 
Block 1 of the Southridge Estates Addition; THENCE east along the 
south line of said Lot 2, a distance of 534.43 feet to the Southeast 
corner of said Lot 2; THENCE north along the east line of said 
Southridge Estates Addition, a distance of 755.51 feet to a point on 
the southerly right-of-way of the old U.S. Highway 40 Bypass; 
THENCE North 81 degrees 01 minutes 00 seconds West along said 
right-of-way a distance of 353.76 feet; THENCE south a distance of 
318.44 feet; THENCE west a distance of 126.34 feet to a point on the 
east right-of-way of Chetolah Creek; THENCE north along the east 
Chetolah Creek right-of-way, a distance of 465.08 feet to a point of 
tangency; THENCE continuing on the east Chetolah Creek right-of-
way on a curve to the right having a radius of 746.3 feet, an arc 
distance of 312.88 feet to a point of tangency; THENCE northeasterly 
along the east Chetolah Creek right-of-way, a distance of 376.00 feet

113



to a point of tangency; THENCE continuing on the east Chetolah 
Creek right-of-way on a curve to the left having a radius of 325.90 
feet, an arc distance of 472.33 feet to a point of tangency; THENCE 
northwesterly along the east Chetolah Creek right-of-way, a distance 
of 544.97 feet; THENCE at an angle of 58N45'34" to the right and 
parallel to the east line of the Northwest Quarter (NW/4) of Section 3, 
Township 14 South, Range 18 West, a distance of 2,452.18 feet to a 
point 50 feet south of the north line of the Northwest Quarter (NW/4) 
of Section 3; THENCE east parallel with the north line of the 
Northwest Quarter (NW/4) of Section 3, a distance of 262.56 feet; 
THENCE with an angle of 0N0'18" to the left, parallel with the north 
line of the Northeast Quarter (NE/4) of Section 3, a distance of 
472.06 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90N00'00" to the right, a 
distance of 538.00 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90N00'00" to the 
left, a distance of 520.00 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90N00'00" 
to the right, a distance of 30.00 feet; THENCE with an angle of 
90N00'00" to the left on a line parallel with the north line of Section 
3, a distance of 1,255.00 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90N00'00" 
to the right, a distance of 581.91 feet; THENCE with an angle of 
89N16'41" to the left, a distance of 383.05 feet to the east line of 
Section 3; THENCE with an angle of 90N00'00" to the right along the 
west line of Section 2, a distance of 28.17 feet; THENCE east parallel 
with the north line of Section 2, a distance of 475.00 feet; THENCE 
south parallel with the west line of Section 2, a distance of 1,413.25 
feet; THENCE east, a distance of 1,320 feet; THENCE north parallel 
with the west line of Section 2, a distance of 2,649.26 feet to the north 
line of the Northwest Quarter (NW/4) of Section 2; THENCE east 
along said north line a distance of 852.79 feet to the Southwest 
Corner of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 35, Township 13 
South, Range 18 West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Ellis County, 
Kansas; THENCE on an assumed bearing of North 00 degrees 04 
minute 25 seconds East along the West line of said Southeast Quarter 
(SE 1/4) a distance of 33.00 feet to the Southwest Corner of the 
Tallgrass Addition to the City of Hays, Kansas; THENCE North 89 
degrees 40 minutes 26 seconds East parallel with the South line of 
said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 513.17 feet; THENCE 
North 00 degrees 19 minutes 34 seconds West perpendicular to the 
South line of said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 17.00 
feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 40 minutes 26 seconds East parallel 
with the South line of said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 
620.00 feet; THENCE South 00 degrees 19 minutes 34 seconds East 
perpendicular to the South line of said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a 
distance of 17.00 feet to a point 33.00 feet North of the South line of 
said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4); THENCE North 89 degrees 40 

114



minutes 26 seconds East parallel with the South line of said Southeast 
Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 545.32 feet; THENCE North 00 
degrees 14 minutes 22 seconds East parallel with the East line of said 
Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 125.00 feet; THENCE 
North 89 degrees 40 minutes 26 seconds East parallel with the South 
line of said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 350.00 feet; 
THENCE North 00 degrees 14 minutes 22 seconds East parallel with 
the East line of said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a distance of 991.92 
feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 40 minutes 26 seconds East and 
parallel with the South line of said Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4), a 
distance of 539.54 feet to a point on the Commerce Parkway right of 
way; THENCE on an assumed bearing of South 01 degree 28 minutes 
11 seconds West, a distance of  427.34 feet; THENCE westerly, 
parallel with the North right of way line of 13th

 
Street, a distance of 

310.00 feet; THENCE southerly, parallel with the West right of way 
line of Commerce Parkway, a distance of 166.37 feet; THENCE 
easterly, parallel with the North right of way line of 13th

 
Street, a 

distance of 310.00 feet to a point on the West right of way line of 
Commerce Parkway; THENCE southerly, along said right of way 
line, a distance of 60.00 feet; THENCE westerly, parallel with the 
North right of way line of 13th Street, a distance of 539.54 feet; 
THENCE southerly, parallel with the West right of way line of 
Commerce Parkway, a distance of 440.00 feet to a point on the North 
right of way line of 13th Street; THENCE Easterly, along said 13th 
Street right of way, a distance of 286.37 feet; THENCE on a bearing 
of South 00 degrees 54 minutes 13 seconds West a distance of 17.000 
meters (55.77 feet) to a point on the North line of Section 2, 
Township 13 South, Range 18 West which is 100.000 meters (328.08 
feet) West of the Northeast Corner of said section as measured along 
the section line; THENCE on a bearing of South 00 degrees 54 
minutes 13 seconds West a distance of 17.000 meters (55.77 feet); 
THENCE on a bearing of South 89 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds 
East a distance of 76.848 meters (252.13 feet); THENCE on a bearing 
of South 01 degrees 24 minutes 51 seconds West a distance of 
793.488 meters (2,603.30 feet) to the South line of the Northeast 
Quarter (NE 1/4) of said Section 2; THENCE on a bearing of South 
03 degrees 37 minutes 31 seconds West a distance of 156.226 meters 
(512.55 feet); THENCE on a bearing of South 01 degrees 25 minutes 
28 seconds West a distance of 250.000 meters (820.21 feet); 
THENCE on a bearing of South 01 degrees 09 minutes 08 seconds 
East a distance of 200.199 meters (656.82 feet); THENCE on a 
bearing of South 01 degrees 25 minutes 28 seconds West a distance 
of 59.458 meters (195.07 feet) to the North right of way line of the 
Union Pacific Railroad; THENCE continuing on the last described 
course a distance of 105.500 meters (346.13 feet) to the North edge of 
the Old Highway 40 pavement; THENCE on a bearing of South 79 

115

http://of31O.00
http://of31O.00


degrees 34 minutes 02 seconds East along the said North edge of Old 
Highway 40 pavement a distance of 20.251 meters (66.44 feet) to the 
East line of said Section 2; THENCE on a bearing of South 79 
degrees 33 minutes 49 seconds East along the said North edge of the 
Old Highway 40 pavement a distance of 20.249 meters (66.43 feet); 
THENCE on a bearing of North 01 degrees 25 minutes 28 seconds 
 East a distance of 105.500 meters (346.13 feet) to the North right of 
way line of said Union Pacific Railroad; THENCE continuing on the 
last described course a distance of 157.876 meters (517.97 feet) to the 
South line of Angela Drive in Country Five Subdivision; THENCE 
on a bearing of South 88 degrees 34 minutes 30 seconds East along 
the South line of said Angela Drive a distance of 10.001 meters 
(32.81 feet); THENCE on a bearing of North 01 degrees 25 minutes 
28 seconds East a distance of  4.816 meters (15.80 feet); THENCE 
South 88 degrees 34 minutes 32 seconds East a distance of 1085.00 
feet; THENCE North 01 degrees 25 minutes 28 seconds East a 
distance 600.00 feet; THENCE North 88 degrees 34 minutes 32 
seconds West a distance of 1101.40 feet to a point on the East Right 
of Way of Commerce Parkway; THENCE North 01 degrees 25 
minutes 28 seconds East a distance of  333.16 feet to the Southwest 
corner of the Heart of America First Addition; THENCE South 89 
degrees 17 minutes 17 seconds East, parallel with the north line of the 
Southwest Quarter of Section 1, Township 14 South, Range 18 West, 
a distance of 750.00 feet to the Southeast corner of said Heart of 
America First Addition; THENCE North 01 degrees 25 minutes 29 
seconds East, parallel with the west line of said Southwest Quarter  a 
distance of 530.01 feet to the Northeast corner of said Addition; 
THENCE North 89 degrees 17 minutes 17 seconds West, parallel 
with the north line of said Southwest Quarter, a distance of 750.00 
East, parallel with the West line of the Southwest Quarter of Section 
1, Township 14 South, Range 18 West, a distance of 946.54 feet to 
the South right of way line of Ninth Street; THENCE South 89 
degrees 17 minutes 16 seconds East, along said South right of way 
line, a distance of 158.52 feet; THENCE North 01 degrees 25 minutes 
29 seconds East, parallel with the west line of said Southwest 
Quarter, a distance of 691.53 feet; THENCE Westerly, parallel with 
and 50.00 feet South of the North line of said Southwest Quarter, a 
distance of 298.51 feet; THENCE South 01 degrees 25 minutes 29 
seconds West, parallel with the West line of said Southwest Quarter, 
a distance of 160.89 feet; THENCE North 89 degrees 17 minutes 16 
seconds West a distance of 961.50 feet to a point on the East 
Commerce Parkway right of way, said point also being the Northwest 
corner of said Heart of America First Addition; THENCE North 01 
degrees 25 minutes 29 seconds East along said East right of way, a 
distance of 208.71 feet to the South line of the Northwest Quarter 
(NW 1/4) of Section 1, Township 14 South, Range 18 West; 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Normal

116



THENCE on a bearing of South 89 degrees 17 minutes 17 seconds 
East along the South line of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) of said 
Section 1 a distance of 4.000 meters (13.12 feet); THENCE on a 
bearing of North 01 degrees 24 minutes 51 seconds East a distance of 
193.469 meters (634.74 feet); THENCE on a bearing of North 00 
degrees 18 minutes 15 seconds West a distance of 200.090 meters 
(656.46 feet); THENCE on a bearing of North 01 degrees 24 minutes 
51 seconds East a distance of 400.076 meters (1,312.58 feet); 
THENCE on a bearing of South 89 degrees 15 minutes 22 seconds 
East a distance of 27.197 meters (89.23 feet); THENCE on a bearing 
of North 00 degrees 44 minutes 38 seconds East a distance of 17.000 
meters (55.77 feet) to the South line of Section 36, Township 13 
South, Range 18 West; THENCE continuing on the last described 
course a distance of 17.000 meters (55.77 feet); THENCE on a 
bearing of North 89 degrees 15 minutes 22 seconds West a distance 
of 24.783 meters (81.31 feet); THENCE on a bearing of North 01 
degrees 28 minutes 11 seconds East a distance of 150.322 meters 
(493.18 feet); THENCE on a bearing of North 88 degrees 31 minutes 
49 seconds West a distance of 5.000 meters (16.40 feet); THENCE on 
a bearing of North 01 degrees 28 minutes 11 seconds East a distance 
of 60.960 meters (200.00 feet);   THENCE on a bearing of South 88 
degrees 31 minutes 49 seconds East a distance of 5.000 meters (16.40 
feet); THENCE on a bearing of North 01 degrees 28 minutes 11 
seconds East a distance of 575.554 meters (1,880.30 feet) to a point 
on the South line of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 
36; THENCE on a bearing of North 01 degrees 27 minutes 50 
seconds East a distance of 41.914 meters (137.51 feet); THENCE on 
a bearing of North 06 degrees 21 minutes 47 seconds East a distance 
of 229.970 meters (754.49 feet); THENCE on a bearing of North  88 
degrees 32 minutes 10 seconds West a distance of 44.641 meters 
(146.46 feet) to a point on the East line of the Northeast Quarter (NE 
1/4) of Section 35, Township 13 South, Range 18 West; THENCE 
continuing on the last described course a distance of 73.619 meters 
(241.53 feet); THENCE on a bearing of South 53 degrees 27 minutes 
23 seconds East a distance of 45.265 meters (148.51 feet); THENCE 
on a bearing of South 03 degrees 17 minutes 59 seconds East a 
distance of 183.514 meters (602.08 feet); THENCE on a bearing of 
South 01 degrees 27 minutes 50 seconds West a distance of 170.60 
feet to a point that is 35.00 feet north of the south line and 70.00 feet 
west of the east line of the Northeast Quarter of Section 35, Township 
13 South, Range 18 West; thence North 89 degrees 05 minutes 47 
seconds West, parallel with and 35.00 feet north of the south line of 
said Northeast Quarter, a distance of 779.35 feet; thence North 30 
degrees 54 minutes 13 seconds West a distance of 25.00 feet; thence 
North 89 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds West, parallel with the south 
line of said Northeast Quarter, a distance of 95.00 feet; thence South 

117



30 degrees 54 minutes 13 seconds West a distance of 25.00 feet; 
thence North 89 degrees 05 minutes 47 seconds West, parallel with 
and 35.00 feet north of the south line of said Northeast Quarter, a 
distance of 816.11 feet to the southeast corner of Lot 43, in Block B 
of the Tallgrass 2nd Addition to the City of Hays, Kansas; thence on 
an assumed bearing of North 00 degrees 14 minutes 10 seconds East, 
along the east line of said Tallgrass 2nd Addition, a distance of 
2,144.73 feet to a point on the Southerly right of way line of Interstate 
70 Highway; THENCE North 60 degrees 27 minutes 21 seconds 
West along said Southerly right of way line, 762.46 feet, to a point 
80.00 feet South and 206.90 feet East of the Northwest Corner of said 
Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) of Section 35; THENCE South 89 
degrees 41 minutes 07 seconds West on a line parallel with the North 
line of said Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4)a distance of 206.90 feet to a 
point on the West line of said Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4), said point 
being 80.00 feet South of the Northwest  
Corner of said Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4); THENCE South 00 
degrees 04 minutes 15 seconds West along the West line of said 
Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) a distance of 904.53 feet to the Northeast 
Corner of Vo-Tech Addition to the City of Hays; THENCE West 
parallel with the South line of said Northwest quarter a distance of 
2442.84 feet; THENCE North along a line parallel with the West line 
of said Northwest quarter a distance of 210.00 feet; THENCE West 
along a line parallel with the South line of said Northwest quarter a 
distance of 210.00 feet to a point on the West line of said Northwest 
quarter Section 35; THENCE North along the West line of said 
Northwest quarter a distance of 540.49 feet to a point 239.00 feet 
South of the Southwest corner of Section 26, Township 13 South, 
Range 18 West; THENCE East parallel with the South line of said 
Section 26 a distance of 222.00 feet; THENCE North parallel with 
the West line of Section 35, Township 13 South, Range 18 West a 
distance of 239.00 feet to the North line of said Section; THENCE 
East along the South line of said Section 26 a distance of 256.00 feet; 
THENCE north parallel with the west line of Section 26, a distance of 
269.00 feet; THENCE east parallel with the south line of Section 26, 
a distance of 508.00 feet; THENCE north parallel with the west line 
of Section 26, a distance of 710.57 feet to the south right-of-way line 
of Interstate 70 Highway; THENCE with an angle of 60N53'40" to the 
left along said south right-of-way line, a distance of 1,127.62 feet to 
the east line of Section 27; THENCE continuing on the last described 
course along said south right-of-way line, a distance of 277.83 feet; 
THENCE with an angle of 4N17'21" to the left, a distance of 243.12 
feet; THENCE with an angle of 116N24'08" to the left, on a bearing 
of South 01 degrees 33 minutes 29 seconds West a distance of 235.04 
feet; THENCE on an assumed bearing of North 70 degrees 11 
minutes 18 seconds West a distance of 340.10 feet; THENCE South 

118



28 degrees 00 minutes 15 seconds West a distance of 105.05 feet; 
THENCE South 07 degrees 07 minutes 46 seconds West a distance of 
237.03 feet; THENCE South 51 degrees 56 minutes 38 seconds West 
a distance of 197.12 feet; THENCE South 61 degrees 40 minutes 20 
seconds West a distance of 179.48 feet; THENCE South 33 degrees 
18 minutes 13 seconds West a distance of 60.06 feet; THENCE South 
02 degrees 38 minutes 17 seconds East a distance of 320.00 feet; 
THENCE South 60 degrees 28 minutes 42 seconds West a distance of 
125.00 feet; THENCE South 83 degrees 01 minutes 01 seconds West 
a distance of 250.00 feet; THENCE South 22 degrees 01 minutes 23 
seconds West a distance of 256.15 feet; THENCE South 89 degrees 
28 minutes 28 seconds West a distance of 232.78 feet; THENCE 
South 00 degrees 42 minutes 17 seconds East a distance of 336.19 
feet; THENCE with an angle of 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds to 
the right 100.00 feet North of and parallel with the South line of 
Section 27 a distance of 15.15 feet to the East line of Hays Plaza 
Third Addition; THENCE north with an angle of 90N00'00" to the 
right, a distance of 680.00 feet; THENCE with an angle of 51N45' to 
the right, a distance of 677.12 feet; THENCE with an angle of 49N30' 
to the left, a distance of 216.35 feet; THENCE with an angle of 
36N15'31" to the left, a distance of 338.10 feet; THENCE with an 
angle of 20N06'08" to the right, a distance of 240.98 feet; THENCE 
with an angle of 34N15'28" to the left, a distance of 1,080.00 feet to 
the north line of the Southeast Quarter (SE/4) of Section 27; 
THENCE with an angle of 138 degrees 10 minutes 00 seconds to the 
right along the North line of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of 
Section 27 a distance of 292.46 feet to the Southerly right of way line 
of Interstate 70; THENCE with an angle of 144 degrees 17 minutes 
20 seconds left along said Southerly right of way a distance of 625.42 
feet; THENCE with an angle of 04 degrees 52 minutes 19 seconds 
left along said South right of way a distance of 276.22 feet to the 
West line of Sundance Addition; THENCE continuing on the last 
described course along the Southerly right of way line of Interstate 70 
a distance of 483.35 feet; THENCE with an angle of 120 degrees 50 
minutes 30 seconds left along a line parallel with and 415.00 feet 
West of the West line of Hays Sundance Addition, a distance of 
519.41 feet; THENCE with an angle of 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 
seconds to the right along a line parallel with and 235.00 feet North of 
the South line of the Northwest Quarter (NW 1/4) of said Section 27 a 
distance of 905.38 feet to a point on the East line of Mart City First 
Addition and the point of beginning. 

 
Plus the following tracts of land: 

 
Beginning at a point on the north line of Section Twelve (12), 

119



Township Fourteen (14) South, Range Eighteen (18) West and 30.0 
feet east of the Northwest Corner; THENCE on a bearing of South 
00N00'00" East a distance of 621.66 feet; THENCE on a bearing of 
North 89N59'59" East a distance of 303 feet; THENCE on a bearing 
of North 00N00'00" West a distance of 300.0 feet; THENCE on a 
bearing of North 89N59'59" East a distance of 8.09 feet; THENCE on 
a bearing of South 13N13'31" East a distance of 5072.84 feet to a 
point on the south line of said Section Twelve (12); THENCE on a 
bearing of South 89N15'58" West along the south line of said Section 
Twelve (12) a distance of 1501.76 feet to the Southwest Corner of 
said Section Twelve (12); THENCE West along the south line of said 
Section Eleven (11) a distance of 30.0 feet; THENCE on a bearing of 
North 00N00'01" West to a point on the north right-of-way line of 
Reservation Road; THENCE on a bearing of North 58N16' West 
along the north right-of-way line of Reservation Road a distance of 
23.5 feet; THENCE on a bearing of North 00N00'01" West to a point 
on the north line of said Section Eleven (11); THENCE continuing on 
the same bearing in said Section Two (2) a distance of 37.4 feet to a 
point on the south right-of-way line of Old Highway 40; THENCE on 
a bearing of South 80N57'52" East along said south highway right-of-
way line a distance of 50.63 feet to a point on the east line of said 
Section Two (2); THENCE continuing on the same bearing along the 
said highway right-of-way line in said Section One (1) a distance of 
30.38 feet; THENCE on a bearing of South 00N00'01" East a distance 
of 23.56 feet to a point on the south line of said Section One (1) and 
the Point of Beginning; 

 
A tract of land in the Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter 
(NW 1/4, SW 1/4) and the West Half of the Northwest Quarter (W 2, 
NW 1/4) of Section 20, Township 13 South, Range 18 West of the 
Sixth Principal Meridian, Ellis County, Kansas, described as follows: 

 
Beginning at a point 49.25 feet East of the Southwest Corner of the 
Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter (NW 1/4, SW 1/4) of 
Section 20, Township 13 South, Range 18 West; THENCE on an 
assumed bearing of North 02 degrees 59 minutes 26 seconds East 
along the East line of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate a distance of 
615.09 feet; THENCE on a bearing of North 89 degrees 58 minutes 
45 seconds East a distance of 428.46 feet to the East line of B&M 
Development Company Addition to Ellis County, Kansas; THENCE 
on a bearing of North 01 degrees 20 minutes 34 seconds East along 
the East line of said addition a distance of 739.11 feet to the 
Southwest corner of Lot 4, Block 2, of the Frontier City Addition; 
THENCE South 89 degrees 58 minutes 45 seconds West, along the 
South line of said Lot 4, a distance of 403.50 feet to the southwest 

120



corner of said Lot 4, said point being on the East right of way line of 
U.S. Highway 183 Alternate; THENCE North 03 degrees 22 minutes 
08 seconds East, along said East right of way line, a distance of 
175.21 feet; THENCE North 00 degrees 35 minutes 21 seconds West, 
along said East right of way line, a distance of 123.77 feet to the 
intersection of said East right of way line with the South right of way 
line of Frontier Road; THENCE North 00 degrees 35 minutes 21 
seconds West along the East right of way line of U.S. Highway 183 
Alternate a distance of 60.04 feet; THENCE North 00 degrees 37 
minutes 19 seconds West along said East right of way line a distance 
of 160.50 feet; THENCE North 05 degrees 34 minutes 09 seconds 
East along said East right of way line a distance of 416.19 feet;  

121



THENCE North 09 degrees 21 minutes 20 seconds West along said 
East right of way line, a distance of 50.88 feet; THENCE North 06 
degrees 04 minutes 31 seconds East along said East right of way line 
a distance of 295.82 feet; THENCE North 23 degrees 17 minutes 29 
seconds East along said East right of way line a distance of 191.58 
feet to a point on the South right of way line of Interstate 70; 
THENCE South 78 degrees 57 minutes 22 seconds East along said 
South right of way line a distance of 461.89 feet; THENCE South 64 
degrees 44 minutes 49 seconds East along said South right of way 
line a distance of 704.87 feet to a point on the East line of the West 
Half of the Northwest Quarter (W 2, NW 1/4) of said Section 20; 
THENCE South 01 degrees 15 minutes 04 seconds West along said 
East line a distance of 736.06 feet;   THENCE continuing on the last 
described course a distance of 60.00 feet to a point on the South right 
of way line of Frontier Road; THENCE continuing on the last 
described course a distance of 1634.04 feet along said East line of the 
West Half of the West Half (W 2, W 2) of Section 20 to the 
Southeast Corner of the Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter 
(NW 1/4, SW 1/4) of said Section 20; THENCE North 89 degrees 26 
minutes 32 seconds West a distance of 1263.71 feet along the South 
line of the Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter (NW 1/4, SW 
1/4) of said Section 20 to the point of beginning; 

 
All of the Northeast Quarter of Section Nineteen (NE/4, Sec. 19), 
Township Thirteen (13) South, Range Eighteen (18) West of the 
Sixth Principal Meridian, Ellis County, Kansas lying South of U.S. 
Interstate Highway 70 and West of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate more 
particularly described as follows: 
 
Beginning at the Northwest Corner of said Northeast Quarter (NE 
1/4) of Section 19; THENCE South on a bearing of South 01 degrees 
17 minutes 26 seconds West, along the West line of said Northeast 
Quarter (NE 1/4)  of Section 19, a distance of 2641.13 feet to the 
Southwest Corner of said Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4)  of Section 19; 
THENCE East on a bearing of South 89 degrees 15 minutes 39 
seconds East, along the South line of said Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) 
of Section 19, a distance of 2576.90 feet to the West right of way line 
of U.S. Highway 183 Alternate; THENCE North on a bearing of 
North 02 degrees 03 minutes 11 seconds East, along said U.S. 
Highway 183 Alternate right of way, a distance of 212 feet; THENCE 
continuing North on a bearing of North 01 degrees 13 minutes 11 
seconds East, along said U.S. Highway 183 Alternate right of way, a 
distance of 181 feet; THENCE continuing Northerly on a bearing of 
North 05 degrees 00 minutes 49 seconds  West, along U.S.  Interstate 
Highway 70 right of way, a distance of 824 feet; THENCE continuing  

122



North on a bearing of North 01 degrees 10 minutes 11 seconds East, 
along said Interstate 70 right of way, a distance of 100 feet; THENCE 
Northwesterly on a bearing of North 30 degrees 48 minutes 49 
seconds West along U.S. Interstate Highway 70 right of way, a 
distance of 415 feet; THENCE Northwesterly on a bearing of North 
46 degrees 14 minutes 49 seconds West, along U.S. Interstate 
Highway 70 right of way, a distance of 633 feet; THENCE 
Northwesterly on a bearing of North 66 degrees 43 minutes 49 
seconds West along U.S. Interstate Highway 70 right of way, a 
distance of 1419 feet to the North line of said Northeast Quarter (NE 
1/4) of Section 19; THENCE West on a bearing of North 89 degrees 
17 minutes 49 seconds West, along the North line of said Northeast 
Quarter (NE 1/4) of Section 19, a distance of 485.29 feet to the 
Northwest Corner of said Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) of Section 19 
and the point of beginning.  Said tract contains 130.38 acres more or 
less. 
 
A tract of land in the Southeast Quarter of Section 2, Township 14 
South, Range 18 West, of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, 
Kansas, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the southeast corner of said Section 2; THENCE on 
an assumed bearing of West, along the south line of said Section 2, a 
distance of 1800.00 feet; THENCE on a bearing of North a distance 
of 125.00 feet to the point of beginning of the land to be described; 
THENCE on a bearing of West a distance of 306.00 feet; THENCE  
North 09 degrees 20 minutes 48 seconds East, along a line 
perpendicular to the centerline of the Union Pacific Railroad, a 
distance of 247.01 feet to a point on the south Right of Way line of 
Old Highway 40; THENCE South 80 degrees 39 minutes 12 seconds 
East, along the south Right of Way line of Old Highway 40, a 
distance of 301.94 feet; THENCE South 09 degrees 20 minutes 48 
seconds West, along a line perpendicular to the centerline of the 
Union Pacific Railroad, a distance of 197.31 feet to the point of 
beginning. This tract contains 1.540 acres. 

 
That part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 2, Township 14 South, 
Range 18 West, of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, Kansas, 
described as follows: 
 
All of Lots 15, 17 and 19, Block 9, and the North Half of the vacated 
alley along the south side of said lots, and except for the North 17 feet 
of said Lots for R/W, all in the George Phillip Addition to the City of 
Hays. 

123



Except the following Tracts: 
 

That part of the Southwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 13 
South, Range 18 West, of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, 
Kansas, described as follows: 
 
That part of the Southwest Quarter of Section 22, Township 13 
South, Range 18 West, of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, 
Kansas, described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Southwest Quarter; 
THENCE on an assumed bearing of North 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 
seconds East, along the South line of said Section 22, a distance of 
492.00 feet to the intersection of said South line of Section 22 with 
the East right of way line of General Hays Road extended from the 
North; THENCE North 00 degrees 47 minutes 45 seconds West, 
along said East right of way line, a distance of 70.00 feet to the point 
of beginning of the land to be described; THENCE continuing on the 
land described course a distance of 200.00 feet; THENCE on a 
bearing of North a distance of 20.00 feet to the Southwest corner of 
Lot 1 in Block 1 of the Marvin F. Braun Addition to Ellis County, 
Kansas; THENCE North 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 seconds East a 
distance of 259.21 feet to the Southeast corner of Lot 2 in Block 1 of 
said Marvin F. Braun Addition; THENCE on a bearing of North a 
distance of 324.96 feet to the Northeast corner of said Lot 2, said 
point being on the South right of way line of 43rd Street; THENCE 
North 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 seconds East, along said South right 
of way line, a distance of 245.46 feet to the Northwest corner of Lot 5 
in Block 1 of said Marvin F. Braun Addition; THENCE on a bearing 
of South a distance of 324.96 feet to the Southwest corner of said Lot 
5; THENCE North 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 seconds East, along the 
South line of said Lot 5, a distance of 142.73 feet to a point 20.00 feet 
East of the Southeast corner of said Lot 5; THENCE on a bearing of 
North a distance of 324.96 feet to a point on the South right of way 
line of 43rd Street, said point being 20.00 feet East of the Northeast 
corner of said Lot 5; THENCE North 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 
seconds East, along said South right of way line, a distance of 187.80 
feet to the intersection of said South right of way line with the West 
right of way line of Sherman Avenue; THENCE South 00 degrees 47 
minutes 45 seconds East, along said West right of way line, a distance 
of 564.94 feet to the intersection of said West right of way line with 
the North right of way line of 41st Street; THENCE South 89 degrees 
12 minutes 15 seconds West, along said North right of way line a 
distance of 457.00 feet to the Southwest corner of the East 41st Street 
First Addition to Ellis County, Kansas; THENCE South 00 degrees 
47 minutes 45 seconds East a distance of 20.00 feet; THENCE South 

124



89 degrees 12 minutes 15 seconds West, along a line parallel with and 
30.00 feet North of the South line of said Section 22, a distance of 
83.00 feet; THENCE North 00 degrees 47 minutes 45 seconds West a 
distance of 10.00 feet; THENCE South 89 degrees 12 minutes 15 
seconds West, along a line parallel with and 40.00 feet North of the 
South line of said Section 22, a distance of 270.00 feet; THENCE 
North 45 degrees 47 minutes 45 seconds West a distance of 42.43 feet 
to the point of beginning. This tract contains 9.038 acres. 
 
That part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 21, Township 13 South, 
Range 18 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, Kansas, 
described as follows: 
 

All of Lots 1 thru 15, in Block 1, of the North Hays Addition 
to Ellis County, Kansas. This tract contains 22.804 acres. 

 
That part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 22, Township 13 South, 
Range 18 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, Kansas, 
described as follows: 
 

That part of Lot 1 that lies south of a line that is parallel and 
50 feet south of the north line of said Northwest Quarter, and 
all of Lots 2 thru 6, all in Block 2, of the North Hays Addition 
to Ellis County, Kansas. This tract contains 16.617 acres. 

 
That part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 22, Township 13 South, 
Range 18 West of the 6th Principal Meridian, Ellis County, Kansas, 
described as follows: 
 

All of Lots 8 thru 11, in Block 2, of the North Hays Addition 
to Ellis County, Kansas. This tract contains 6.980 acres. 

 
The City of Hays contains 5,262.1345,278.032 acres or 8.222247 
square miles, more or less. 

 
ADOPTED by the Commission on ____________________, 2016. 

 
 

_____________________________ 
SHAUN MUSIL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
BRENDA KITCHEN 
City Clerk 

125



126



ORD 3922
10-27-2016

Legend
CITY OF HAYS

2016 City Limits
Annexations for 2016

 C
OU

NT
RY

  L
N

 DRIVE A RD

 DRIVE B RD

 NEW WAY

 G
EN

ER
AL

 C
US

TE
R 

RD

 DEPOT PARKING ST

 DWIGHT DR

E 10TH ST

E 8TH  ST

E 7TH  ST

W 12TH ST

 W 9TH  ST

W 1ST ST

 AGNEW LN

SOUTH  CAMPUS DR

 DWIGHT DR

W 4TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

W 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

W 4TH  ST

W 2ND  ST

W 3RD ST

 LEW
IS DR

 LY
MAN

 DR

GUSTAD DR

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

W 13TH ST

 LY
MAN DR

 C
US

TE
R 

DR

 M
AIN

 ST

 AS
H 

ST W
AL

NU
T S

T PA
RK

 ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST

 O
AK

  S
T

 R
ILE

Y 
ST

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

 ELM  ST

 F
OR

T 
ST

 M
ON

TG
OM

ER
Y S

T
 C

ED
AR

 S
T

 M
AP

LE
  S

T

 S
PR

UC
E 

ST

W 11TH ST

 C
ED

AR
 S

T

E 6TH  STUS 183 ALT HWY M
AI

N 
ST E 5TH ST

GUSTAD DR

E US 40 HWY BYPS

CO
MM

ER
CE

 P
KW

Y

E 18TH  ST

E 17TH  ST

E 15TH  ST

E 15TH  ST

 SUNSET TRL

 BROOKSIDE DR E 12TH ST

 H
AR

VE
ST

 R
D

 H
OL

ME
S 

RD

 G
OL

DE
N 

BE
LT

 D
R

 W
ES

TE
RN

 P
LA

IN
S 

DR

 A
NT

HO
NY

 D
R

 A
GN

ES
 D

R

 F
EL

TE
N 

DR

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

 C
AN

TE
RB

UR
Y 

DR

 S
TE

VE
N 

DR

W 41ST ST BUTTERFIELD RD

W 43RD  ST

 WASHINGTON CIR

W 45TH  ST

W 42ND  ST
W 43RD  ST

 S
MO

KY
 H

ILL
 D

R  MOPAR DRW 41ST ST

W 38TH  ST

 H
ILL

CR
ES

T 
DR W 40TH  ST

 JP
 D

R

 S
UM

ME
R 

LN

 A
UT

UM
N 

LN

W 40TH  ST

 AUTUMN LN
 CANAL BLVD

W 41ST ST

W 38TH  ST

 FAIRWAY DR

W 39TH  ST

W 38TH  ST

W 39TH  ST

 F
AI

RW
AY

 D
R

 T
RU

MA
N 

CI
R

W 41ST ST

 P
OS

T 
 R

D

 FRONTIER RD

 V
IN

E 
 S

T R
OT

H 
AV

E

E 41ST ST

I-70 HWY

 V
IN

E 
 S

T

COPPER CREEK CT

COPPER  CREEK  CT

E 29TH  STW 29TH  ST
 CIRCLE DR

E 28TH  ST

 CASTILLIAN BLVD

 ENGLEWOOD DR
E 28TH  ST

 OAK  ST THUNDERBIRD DR

 AUGUSTA LN

W 28TH  ST

 C
AN

AL
 B

LV
D

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

 H
ILL

CR
ES

T 
DR

 E
LM

  S
T

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 F
OR

T 
ST

 H
IC

KO
RY

 S
T

 A
SH

 S
T

 W
OO

DR
OW

 C
T

W 29TH  ST

W 30TH  ST

 C
HE

RR
Y 

HI
LL

  D
R

 T
HU

ND
ER

BI
RD

 C
T

W 28TH  ST

 C
OL

UM
BI

NE
 D

R

 C
HE

RR
Y 

HI
LL

  D
R

 W
HE

AT
LA

ND
 A

VE

E 22ND  ST C
UM

BE
RL

AN
D 

DR

E 21ST ST

E 26TH  ST

E 24TH  ST

 VIRGINIA DR

E 24TH  ST

E 26TH  ST

E 22ND  ST

E 25TH  ST

E 23RD ST

 FARLEY PL

 MAIZE CT

E 24TH ST 

NC
K 

RD

 SCHWALLER AVE

 CENTENNIAL BLVD

 MOTZ  AVE

 DRUM AVE

 DOWNING AVE

E 25TH  ST

E 22ND  ST

HAYS MEDICAL CENTER

 V
IR

GI
NI

A 
DR

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 F
EL

TE
N 

DR

 C
AN

TE
RB

UR
Y 

DR

 IN
DI

AN
 T

RL

 S
HE

RM
AN

 A
VE

 M
AR

JO
RI

E 
DR

 H
EN

RY
 D

R

 T
IM

BE
R 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

 S
CH

W
AL

LE
R 

AV
E

 H
EN

RY
 D

R

 E
IS

EN
HO

W
ER

 R
D

 M
AR

SH
AL

L R
D

E 26TH  ST

E 22ND  ST

 DRUM AVE

 CODY AVE

 DOWNING AVE

CE
NT

EN
NI

AL
 M

AL
L R

D  G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AY

S 
RD

 G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AN

CO
CK

 R
D

E 20TH  ST

E 19TH  ST

E 20TH ST CT

 DOUGLAS DR

E 17TH  ST

 H
OL

ME
S 

RD

 LAWRENCE DR

E 20TH  ST

 IDA LN

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

 F
EL

TE
N 

DR

 W
HI

TT
IE

R 
 R

D

E 
19

TH
  S

T

 V
OL

GA
  D

R

 M
AC

 A
RT

HU
R 

RD

 R
OL

LIN
G 

HI
LL

S 
DR

 H
AR

VE
ST

 R
D

 JU
DI

TH
 D

R

 G
EN

ER
AL

 C
US

TE
R 

RD

 LO
NG

FE
LL

OW
 R

D  D
OU

GL
AS

 D
R

 M
AR

JO
RI

E 
DR

E 19TH  ST

 C
OM

ME
RC

E 
PK

W
Y

E 20TH  ST

E 33RD ST

E 30TH  ST

E 29TH  ST

E 31ST ST

E 32ND  ST
 BARCLAY DR

 S
HE

RM
AN

 A
VE

 ROOSEVELT AVE

E 37TH  ST

E 29TH  ST

 SOUTH STERNBERG CT

 ST
ER

NB
ER

G 
DR

E 29TH  ST

 METRO LN

NORTH STERNBERG CT

 PATIO DR

E 27TH ST FRONTAGE RD

E 27TH ST TER  METRO LN

E 29TH  ST

E 28TH ST TER

E 28TH ST

 G
RA

NT
 A

VE

 IN
DI

AN
 T

RL

 B
RO

AD
W

AY
 A

VE

 P
LA

ZA
 A

VE

US
 18

3 A
LT

 H
W

Y

E 17TH  ST

PUBLIC WORKS RD

 D
EC

HA
NT

 R
D

 V
IN

E 
 S

T

E 8TH  ST

 A
RB

OR
 D

R

W 20TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 25TH  ST

W 23RD ST

E 21ST ST

 HIGHLAND AVE

E 26TH  ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

E 25TH  ST

W 18TH  ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 TE

R

 O
AK

 ST
 TE

R

W 8TH  ST

W 12TH ST

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 23RD ST

W 21ST ST

W 22ND  ST

 A
UG

US
TA

 LN

 E
NG

LE
W

OO
D 

DR

W 24TH  ST

W 26TH ST

 PERSHING CT E 22ND  ST

E 23RD ST

E 24TH  ST

W 26TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 O

AK
  S

T

 CANAL BLVD

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 E
LM

  S
T

 O
AK

  S
T

 PI
NE

  S
T

 W
AL

NU
T S

T

 H
AL

L S
T

NORTH CAMPUS DR

W 16TH  ST

 PO
LIC

E D
R

 C
OL

LE
GE

  D
R

W 17TH  ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST AL

LE
N 

 ST

 FO
RT

 ST

W 37TH  ST

W 32ND  ST

 SKYLINE CT

W 37TH  ST
W 37TH  ST

 T
HU

ND
ER

BI
RD

 C
IR

 OAKMONT ST

 GREENBRIER LN

 O
LY

MP
IC

 LN

 PINEHURST ST

 AMHURST ST

 COUNTRY CLUB DR

 TH
UN

DE
RB

IR
D 

DR

 O
AK

  S
T

 N
OR

TH
RI

DG
E 

CT

NORTHRIDGE  DR

NORTHRIDGE  DR

W 37TH  ST

 ASH ST

W 36TH  ST

W 37TH  ST

W 29TH  ST

W 31ST ST

W 30TH  ST

W 32ND  ST

CLUBHOUSE DR

W 33RD ST

W 35TH  ST FAIRWAY DR

 C
HA

UM
ON

T 
DR

W 35TH  ST

 OAKMONT ST

 SK
YL

INE
 DR

 TA
M 

OS
HA

NT
ER

 D
R

 E
LD

OR
AD

O 
LN

W 36TH  ST

 H
ILL

CR
ES

T 
DR

 C
AN

AL
 B

LV
D

 T
HU

ND
ER

BI
RD

 D
R

 LI
NC

OL
N 

DR

 S
UM

ME
R 

LN

 F
OR

T 
ST

 S
KY

LIN
E 

DR

 E
LM

  S
T

W 34TH  ST

 W
ILL

OW
 S

T

 C
OU

NT
RY

  L
N

 G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AY

S 
RD

E 21ST  ST

FI
LL

MO
RE

 D
R

HA
RR

IS
ON

 S
T

RO
TH

 A
VE

GE
NE

RA
L H

AY
S 

RD

W 55TH ST E 55TH ST

 G
EN

ER
AL

 LA
W

TO
N 

RD

W 44TH  ST

E 48TH  ST

ACCESS RD

 EL
M  S

T

TRINITY DR

TA
LL

GR
AS

S 
DR

E 14TH ST

W 45TH  ST

HO
OV

ER
 D

R

W 46TH  ST

W 45TH  ST

NE
W

TO
N 

CI
R LA

RN
ED

 C
IR

SH
ER

MA
N 

AV
E

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
DR

AD
AM

S 
DR

 G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AY

S 
RD

E 45TH  ST

W 48TH  ST

E 8TH  ST

MISSION MT

VI
ST

A 
DR

TO
RR

EY
 P

IN
ES

 D
R

CO
LO

NIA
L S

T

PRIVATE ST

E 43RD  ST

GEN
ER

AL
 C

US
TE

R
 R

D
GEN

ER
AL

 C
US

TE
R

 R
D

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

W 33RD ST

TA
M 

CT

CO
VE

NA
NT

 D
R

KI
NG

'S
 G

AT
E 

DR

E 55TH ST FAIRGROUND RD

E 27TH 

E 22ND  ST

TA
MA

RA
C 

CI
R

 BERMUDA CT

E 17TH  ST

LIMESTONE CT  P
RA

IR
IE

 R
UN

 C
T

KING'S CT

CO
OL

ID
GE

 C
T

VA
N 

BU
RE

N 
DR

JA
KE

 S
T

HA
RP

ER
 P

AS
S

JO
SI

E 
W

AY

JA
GG

ER
 C

T

DA
NB

Y 
LN Legend

CITY OF HAYS

 C
OU

NT
RY

  L
N

 DRIVE A RD

 DRIVE B RD

 NEW WAY

 G
EN

ER
AL

 C
US

TE
R 

RD

 DEPOT PARKING ST

 DWIGHT DR

E 10TH ST

E 8TH  ST

E 7TH  ST

W 12TH ST

 W 9TH  ST

W 1ST ST

 AGNEW LN

SOUTH  CAMPUS DR

 DWIGHT DR

W 4TH  ST

W 7TH  ST
W 6TH  ST

W 5TH  ST

W 3RD ST

W 8TH  ST

W 10TH ST

W 4TH  ST

W 2ND  ST

W 3RD ST

 LEW
IS DR

 LY
MAN

 DR

GUSTAD DR

W 14TH  ST

W 15TH  ST

W 13TH ST

 LY
MAN DR

 C
US

TE
R 

DR

 M
AIN

 ST

 AS
H 

ST W
AL

NU
T S

T PA
RK

 ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST

 O
AK

  S
T

 R
ILE

Y 
ST

 PI
NE

  S
T

 SA
NT

A F
E D

R
 AL

LE
N 

 ST

 ELM  ST

 F
OR

T 
ST

 M
ON

TG
OM

ER
Y S

T
 C

ED
AR

 S
T

 M
AP

LE
  S

T

 S
PR

UC
E 

ST

W 11TH ST

 C
ED

AR
 S

T

E 6TH  STUS 183 ALT HWY M
AI

N 
ST E 5TH ST

GUSTAD DR

E US 40 HWY BYPS

CO
MM

ER
CE

 P
KW

Y

E 18TH  ST

E 17TH  ST

E 15TH  ST

E 15TH  ST

 SUNSET TRL

 BROOKSIDE DR E 12TH ST

 H
AR

VE
ST

 R
D

 H
OL

ME
S 

RD

 G
OL

DE
N 

BE
LT

 D
R

 W
ES

TE
RN

 P
LA

IN
S 

DR

 A
NT

HO
NY

 D
R

 A
GN

ES
 D

R

 F
EL

TE
N 

DR

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

 C
AN

TE
RB

UR
Y 

DR

 S
TE

VE
N 

DR

W 41ST ST BUTTERFIELD RD

W 43RD  ST

 WASHINGTON CIR

W 45TH  ST

W 42ND  ST
W 43RD  ST

 S
MO

KY
 H

ILL
 D

R  MOPAR DRW 41ST ST

W 38TH  ST

 H
ILL

CR
ES

T 
DR W 40TH  ST

 JP
 D

R

 S
UM

ME
R 

LN

 A
UT

UM
N 

LN

W 40TH  ST

 AUTUMN LN
 CANAL BLVD

W 41ST ST

W 38TH  ST

 FAIRWAY DR

W 39TH  ST

W 38TH  ST

W 39TH  ST

 F
AI

RW
AY

 D
R

 T
RU

MA
N 

CI
R

W 41ST ST

 P
OS

T 
 R

D

 FRONTIER RD

 V
IN

E 
 S

T R
OT

H 
AV

E

E 41ST ST

I-70 HWY

 V
IN

E 
 S

T

COPPER CREEK CT

COPPER  CREEK  CT

E 29TH  STW 29TH  ST
 CIRCLE DR

E 28TH  ST

 CASTILLIAN BLVD

 ENGLEWOOD DR
E 28TH  ST

 OAK  ST THUNDERBIRD DR

 AUGUSTA LN

W 28TH  ST

 C
AN

AL
 B

LV
D

 C
OT

TO
NW

OO
D 

LN

 H
ILL

CR
ES

T 
DR

 E
LM

  S
T

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 F
OR

T 
ST

 H
IC

KO
RY

 S
T

 A
SH

 S
T

 W
OO

DR
OW

 C
T

W 29TH  ST

W 30TH  ST

 C
HE

RR
Y 

HI
LL

  D
R

 T
HU

ND
ER

BI
RD

 C
T

W 28TH  ST

 C
OL

UM
BI

NE
 D

R

 C
HE

RR
Y 

HI
LL

  D
R

 W
HE

AT
LA

ND
 A

VE

E 22ND  ST C
UM

BE
RL

AN
D 

DR

E 21ST ST

E 26TH  ST

E 24TH  ST

 VIRGINIA DR

E 24TH  ST

E 26TH  ST

E 22ND  ST

E 25TH  ST

E 23RD ST

 FARLEY PL

 MAIZE CT

E 24TH ST 

NC
K 

RD

 SCHWALLER AVE

 CENTENNIAL BLVD

 MOTZ  AVE

 DRUM AVE

 DOWNING AVE

E 25TH  ST

E 22ND  ST

HAYS MEDICAL CENTER

 V
IR

GI
NI

A 
DR

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 F
EL

TE
N 

DR

 C
AN

TE
RB

UR
Y 

DR

 IN
DI

AN
 T

RL

 S
HE

RM
AN

 A
VE

 M
AR

JO
RI

E 
DR

 H
EN

RY
 D

R

 T
IM

BE
R 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

 S
CH

W
AL

LE
R 

AV
E

 H
EN

RY
 D

R

 E
IS

EN
HO

W
ER

 R
D

 M
AR

SH
AL

L R
D

E 26TH  ST

E 22ND  ST

 DRUM AVE

 CODY AVE

 DOWNING AVE

CE
NT

EN
NI

AL
 M

AL
L R

D  G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AY

S 
RD

 G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AN

CO
CK

 R
D

E 20TH  ST

E 19TH  ST

E 20TH ST CT

 DOUGLAS DR

E 17TH  ST

 H
OL

ME
S 

RD

 LAWRENCE DR

E 20TH  ST

 IDA LN

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

 F
EL

TE
N 

DR

 W
HI

TT
IE

R 
 R

D

E 
19

TH
  S

T

 V
OL

GA
  D

R

 M
AC

 A
RT

HU
R 

RD

 R
OL

LIN
G 

HI
LL

S 
DR

 H
AR

VE
ST

 R
D

 JU
DI

TH
 D

R

 G
EN

ER
AL

 C
US

TE
R 

RD

 LO
NG

FE
LL

OW
 R

D  D
OU

GL
AS

 D
R

 M
AR

JO
RI

E 
DR

E 19TH  ST

 C
OM

ME
RC

E 
PK

W
Y

E 20TH  ST

E 33RD ST

E 30TH  ST

E 29TH  ST

E 31ST ST

E 32ND  ST
 BARCLAY DR

 S
HE

RM
AN

 A
VE

 ROOSEVELT AVE

E 37TH  ST

E 29TH  ST

 SOUTH STERNBERG CT

 ST
ER

NB
ER

G 
DR

E 29TH  ST

 METRO LN

NORTH STERNBERG CT

 PATIO DR

E 27TH ST FRONTAGE RD

E 27TH ST TER  METRO LN

E 29TH  ST

E 28TH ST TER

E 28TH ST

 G
RA

NT
 A

VE

 IN
DI

AN
 T

RL

 B
RO

AD
W

AY
 A

VE

 P
LA

ZA
 A

VE

US
 18

3 A
LT

 H
W

Y

E 17TH  ST

PUBLIC WORKS RD

 D
EC

HA
NT

 R
D

 V
IN

E 
 S

T

E 8TH  ST

 A
RB

OR
 D

R

W 20TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 25TH  ST

W 23RD ST

E 21ST ST

 HIGHLAND AVE

E 26TH  ST

W 20TH  ST
W 19TH  ST

E 25TH  ST

W 18TH  ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 TE

R

 O
AK

 ST
 TE

R

W 8TH  ST

W 12TH ST

W 24TH  ST

W 17TH  ST

W 19TH  ST

W 21ST ST

W 15TH  ST

W 20TH  ST

W 16TH ST

W 14TH  ST

W 23RD ST

W 21ST ST

W 22ND  ST

 A
UG

US
TA

 LN

 E
NG

LE
W

OO
D 

DR

W 24TH  ST

W 26TH ST

 PERSHING CT E 22ND  ST

E 23RD ST

E 24TH  ST

W 26TH ST

 M
AIN

 ST
 O

AK
  S

T

 CANAL BLVD

 W
AL

NU
T 

ST

 E
LM

  S
T

 O
AK

  S
T

 PI
NE

  S
T

 W
AL

NU
T S

T

 H
AL

L S
T

NORTH CAMPUS DR

W 16TH  ST

 PO
LIC

E D
R

 C
OL

LE
GE

  D
R

W 17TH  ST

 M
ILN

ER
 ST AL

LE
N 

 ST

 FO
RT

 ST

W 37TH  ST

W 32ND  ST

 SKYLINE CT

W 37TH  ST
W 37TH  ST

 T
HU

ND
ER

BI
RD

 C
IR

 OAKMONT ST

 GREENBRIER LN

 O
LY

MP
IC

 LN

 PINEHURST ST

 AMHURST ST

 COUNTRY CLUB DR

 TH
UN

DE
RB

IR
D 

DR

 O
AK

  S
T

 N
OR

TH
RI

DG
E 

CT

NORTHRIDGE  DR

NORTHRIDGE  DR

W 37TH  ST

 ASH ST

W 36TH  ST

W 37TH  ST

W 29TH  ST

W 31ST ST

W 30TH  ST

W 32ND  ST

CLUBHOUSE DR

W 33RD ST

W 35TH  ST FAIRWAY DR

 C
HA

UM
ON

T 
DR

W 35TH  ST

 OAKMONT ST

 SK
YL

INE
 DR

 TA
M 

OS
HA

NT
ER

 D
R

 E
LD

OR
AD

O 
LN

W 36TH  ST

 H
ILL

CR
ES

T 
DR

 C
AN

AL
 B

LV
D

 T
HU

ND
ER

BI
RD

 D
R

 LI
NC

OL
N 

DR

 S
UM

ME
R 

LN

 F
OR

T 
ST

 S
KY

LIN
E 

DR

 E
LM

  S
T

W 34TH  ST

 W
ILL

OW
 S

T

 C
OU

NT
RY

  L
N

 G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AY

S 
RD

E 21ST  ST

FI
LL

MO
RE

 D
R

HA
RR

IS
ON

 S
T

RO
TH

 A
VE

GE
NE

RA
L H

AY
S 

RD

W 55TH ST E 55TH ST

 G
EN

ER
AL

 LA
W

TO
N 

RD

W 44TH  ST

E 48TH  ST

ACCESS RD

 EL
M  S

T

TRINITY DR

TA
LL

GR
AS

S 
DR

E 14TH ST

W 45TH  ST

HO
OV

ER
 D

R

W 46TH  ST

W 45TH  ST

NE
W

TO
N 

CI
R LA

RN
ED

 C
IR

SH
ER

MA
N 

AV
E

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
DR

AD
AM

S 
DR

 G
EN

ER
AL

 H
AY

S 
RD

E 45TH  ST

W 48TH  ST

E 8TH  ST

MISSION MT

VI
ST

A 
DR

TO
RR

EY
 P

IN
ES

 D
R

CO
LO

NIA
L S

T

PRIVATE ST

E 43RD  ST

GEN
ER

AL
 C

US
TE

R
 R

D
GEN

ER
AL

 C
US

TE
R

 R
D

 D
ON

AL
D 

DR

 H
AN

EY
 D

R

W 33RD ST

TA
M 

CT

CO
VE

NA
NT

 D
R

KI
NG

'S
 G

AT
E 

DR

E 55TH ST FAIRGROUND RD

E 27TH 

E 22ND  ST

TA
MA

RA
C 

CI
R

 BERMUDA CT

E 17TH  ST

LIMESTONE CT  P
RA

IR
IE

 R
UN

 C
T

KING'S CT

CO
OL

ID
GE

 C
T

VA
N 

BU
RE

N 
DR

JA
KE

 S
T

HA
RP

ER
 P

AS
S

JO
SI

E 
W

AY

JA
GG

ER
 C

T

DA
NB

Y 
LN

127


	12-15-16 Work Session Memo
	12-15-16 Work Session Agenda
	12-1-16 Work Session Notes
	Joint City/HRC Meeting
	Wastewater and Parks Fiber Network Connections
	2017 Street Maintenance Program
	Airport CIP Update
	2016 Boundary Resolution



